



Master's Thesis 2019 30 ECTS

Faculty of Landscape and Society

Popular consultations in extractive governance. Experiences from Colombia

Åsta Losnegård Skjervøy

Master of Science in International Development Studies

The Department of International Environment and Development Studies, Noragric, is the international gateway for the Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU). Established in 1986, Noragric's contribution to international development lies in the interface between research, education (Bachelor, Master and PhD programmes) and assignments.

The Noragric Master theses are the final theses submitted by students in order to fulfil the requirements under the Noragric Master programme "International Environmental Studies", "International Development Studies" and "International Relations".

The findings in this thesis do not necessarily reflect the views of Noragric. Extracts from this publication may only be reproduced after prior consultation with the author and on condition that the source is indicated. For rights of reproduction or translation contact Noragric.

© Åsta Losnegård Skjervøy, January 2020 aastals@gmail.com Noragric Department of International Environment and Development Studies The Faculty of Landscape and Society

P.O. Box 5003 N-1432 Ås Norway

Tel.: +47 67 23 00 00

Internet: https://www.nmbu.no/fakultet/landsam/institutt/noragric

Declaration	
-------------	--

I, Åsta Losnegård Skjervøy declare that this thesis is a result of my research investigations								
and findings. Sources of information other than my own have been acknowledged and a								
reference list has been appended. This work has not been previously submitted to any other								
university for award of any type of academic degree.								
Signature Date								

Acknowledgements

The writing of this thesis has been a long and complicated process, but more than anything, it has been a process in which I have learned a lot. Not only when it comes to the topic of this research, and the process of conducting fieldwork for a bigger academic work, but more than anything about Colombia—a country in which I have lived and spent time in during three different occasions, and which I have come to consider my second home. Through the fieldwork, I was able to get insight into a Colombia I did not yet know, a countryside with a complicated array of history, issues and people. I would like to give a big thank you to everyone who participated in the research, and those who helped me out and made the work easier. The friendliness, the hospitality, the hunger for knowledge and sharing that I have been met with throughout this research has been an incredible experience.

I would like to thank my friends and family that have supported me throughout the process, and most notably for those who have taken to the time to read parts of it and come with feedback, your help has been invaluable.

Thank you!

Abstract

Mining has been an important industry in Colombia and there has been a push for expansion since the beginning of the 2000s. The granting of mining titles and planned large-scale mining projects have resulted in a social environmental conflicts in many parts of the country. In the years from 2013 to 2018, ten municipalities in Colombia carried out popular consultations—a kind of local referendum supported by the Colombian constitution, and with binding results—against extractive development in their territory. These consultations happened despite the national government opposing and trying to stop the use of the tool in extractive governance, arguing that they are illegal as only the state can make decisions on the use of the resources of subsoil. In this thesis I am looking at the development of the use of popular consultations in extractive governance in Colombia, and how local communities have organized themselves to employ the tool. I argue that the use of the tool managed to grow and reach legitimacy with the courts, and most notably the Constitutional Court, because of the country's strong courts and the history of the Constitutional Court of judicial activism, but that this was not sufficient for the use of popular consultations continue to be used in extractive governance.

List of abbreviations

AGA - AngloGold Ashanti

ANH - National Agency of Hydrocarbons

COA - Cinturón Occidental Ambiental / Western Environmental Belt

Corantioquia - Corporación Autónoma de Antioquia

Cortolima - Corporación Autónoma de Tolima

ELN - Ejército de Liberación Nacional / National Liberation Army

FARC - Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias de Colombia / Revolutionary Armed Forces of

Colombia

UPME - Unidad de Planeación Minero Energética / Energy and Mining Planning Unit

GDP - Gross Domestic Product

NGO - Non-Governmental Organization

Moz - Million ounces

M-19 - 19th of April Movement

CINEP/PPP - Center for Research and Popular Education / Peace Program

Table of Contents

Acł	knowled	gements	4
Abs	stract		6
Lis	t of abbı	eviations	7
Tal	ole of Co	ntents	8
1.	Introd	luction	10
í	1.1. (Objectives	13
í	1.2. 1	Background information	14
	1.2.1.	Extractivism in the Colombian context	14
	1.2.2.	1991 constitution and its antecedents	16
í	1.3. l	Methodology	18
	1.3.1.	Research approach and design	19
	1.3.2.	Data collection	22
	1.3.3.	Ethical considerations	24
	1.3.4.	Limitations	26
í	1.4.	Theoretical Framework	27
	1.4.1.	Judicialization of politics and judicial activism	27
2.	Popul	ar Consultations and their use in extractive governance in Colombia	34
2	2.1. l	Popular consultations: What they are, and how they work	35
	2.1.1.	When to use a popular consultation	35
	2.1.2.	The required process to carry out a popular consultation	38
	2.1.3.	Legal foundations for use in extractive governance	39
2	2.2.	Popular consultations in extractive governance	40
	2.2.1.	Antecedents	40
	2.2.2.	Popular consultations carried out against extractive development in Colombia	44
	2.2.1.	Changing legislation and jurisprudence	45
2	2.3. 1	lindrance of execution of popular consultations	50
	2.3.1.	Threats	50
	2.3.2.	Reducing polling stations	51
	2.3.3.	Cuts in funding	51

3.	. Cases:	La Colosa and Quebradona	55
	3.1. I	.a Colosa	56
	3.1.1.	Background information	57
	3.1.2.	Reception of project, beginning of resistance	64
	3.1.3.	The road to a popular consultation in Piedras	67
	3.1.4.	The road to a popular consultation in Cajamarca	70
	3.1.5.	Non-juridical processes of resistance	77
	<i>3.2.</i> (Quebradona	80
	3.2.1.	Background information	82
	3.2.2.	Reception to project and beginning of resistance	85
	3.2.3.	Municipal agreements and intents of popular consultations	87
	3.2.4.	Abrazo de la montaña	93
	3.3. J	uridical tools only a part of the equation	94
4.	. Discus	ssing the use of popular consultations in extractive governance in Colombia	97
	<i>4.1. S</i>	trengths and limitations	98
	4.1.1.	Local level	99
	4.1.2.	Regional level	100
	4.1.3.	National level	101
	4.2. I	Popular consultations, judicialization of politics and judicial activism	102
5.	. Conclu	ısion	105
6.	. Biblio	graphy	106

1. Introduction

I am standing in the middle of a steep field with a group of local farmers and produce distributors in the rural zone of Cajamarca, an hour away from Ibagué. Two dogs chase eachother through the tall rows of bean vines, tearing some of the plants, and almost knocking over a little kid, before getting rebuffed and chased away. The vines, held up by neatly constructed wooden frameworks and wire, abound with pods almost ready for harvest. While the landowner explains his process of using an organic mixture (the main ingredient being fermented whey) to fertilize the soil, and for pest control, the man next to me pinches off a pod from one of the vines. He opens the pod with his thumbs and as he spreads the halves apart, brightly colored beans emerge—magenta mottled with white. He pours some of them into my hand, so I can study them better. The farmers have come from all over Cajamarca to partake in this little workshop on agroecology. They are here to discuss the possibilities and difficulties of organic farming and to see how some of the test fields are doing. Cajamarca is often nicknamed the food basket of Colombia because of the rich, fertile soil covering the steep slopes of the mountains, and because of the abundance of different types of crops that can, and do grow here. A small group of farmers want to transform this image into the organic food basket of Colombia, and cater to the growing demand for organic produce in the nearby city of Ibagué, as well as Bogotá.

This shift towards organic agriculture is part of a bigger process taking place in the municipality. An alternative kind of resistance against extractive development, because below the fertile soil, other riches are hiding. In 2007, the South-African mining company AngloGold Ashanti (AGA) found huge deposits of gold in the territory. The project, La Colosa, was planned to be one of the biggest open-pit gold mines in the world, and probably the biggest in

Latin America. When people started to learn details about the project: the size of the mine, how the extraction process works, the possible environmental and social risks, and the company's track-record around the world, concerns grew. In 2017, after years of increased tensions, the municipality carried out a popular consultation—a type of popular vote and one of the tools of citizen participation enshrined in the Colombian constitution—in which the people of Cajamarca said no to mining. Because of the vote, AGA had to abandon its project and leave Cajamarca. Since the departure of the mining company, farmers have been eager to show that there is a future in farming and that prohibiting mining was the right choice (Montaño Vásquez, 2018). An argument that was often thrown in their direction while they were opposing the Colosa project, was that they were polluting the exact same waters that they said they wanted to protect. Some took it to heart, and projects like this were born.

Cajamarca isn't the only place in Colombia where planned projects have resulted in opposition from the local communities, and where this opposition in the end has led to prohibition through popular consultations. With an increased push for extractive development, there has also been an increased number of environmental conflicts. In the last couple of decades, mining companies have increasingly been focusing their attention on Latin America, and Colombia is no exception (Bebbington & Bury, 2013). Because of the environmental and social risks, as well as the possible loss of livelihood, many people are opposing these projects. As a part of this resistance, groups and communities opposing mining projects have been searching for ways to halt extractive development.

In 2013, Piedras, located just a couple of hours away from Cajamarca, was the first municipality in Colombia to employ the tool of popular consultation against mining. Since then, a total of ten municipalities have used the tool to stop specific projects, or to preventively prohibit extractive development in their territories. Also in other Latin American countries,

different versions of the popular consultation have been employed against mining projects since 2002, with differing success (Walter & Urkidi, 2017). The tool has been especially appealing to communities in Colombia, as the results of a popular consultation are binding, according to the Colombian constitution of 1991. The Colombian government, on the other hand, has not been very content with this development, and has been trying to reduce its viability. The constitution gives the local authorities autonomy to decide over the use of land in their territories, but it also states that the subsoil and its resources belong to the State. This has been used by the government, government institutions and affected mining companies to delegitimize the use of popular consultations in extractive governance. This dispute—on what it actually entails that the subsoil belongs to the state, and whether local authorities are allowed to prohibit extractive development in their territory—has gone through the courts various times in the last decade, with contradicting conclusions. Finally, in October 2018, the Colombian Constitutional Court ruled that municipalities do not have the authority to prohibit activities related to minerals in the subsoil, effectively stopping the use of popular consultations against extractive development (ruling SU-095/18).

The use of popular consultations in Colombia has sparked interest among many scholars, looking at its potential as a tool in environmental democracy (Dietz, 2018), resource sovereignty (McNeish, 2017) and the conditions that made it possible to be employed in extractive governance (Roa-García, 2017; Villamil & Bautista, 2015), albeit for a limited period of time. Most of the studies were conducted while the use of popular consultations were on the rise, and mainly focused on the Colosa project. Though it seems like the possibility for using popular consultations against extractive development has closed for good through the ruling by the Constitutional Court in 2018, there are still interesting experiences from the use of the tool that can help understand some of the dynamics of social groups and resistance to

extractive development in the country. In this study I aim to garner a wider understanding of the use of popular consultations in extractive governance, its strengths and limitations and the context in which is was able to grow, and the context in which it fell. I will be doing this by looking at two mining projects: La Colosa and Quebradona.

1.1. Objectives

Give an overview of the experiences with popular consultations, as well as to consider the strengths and weaknesses of popular consultation as a mechanism for extractive governance in post-conflict Colombia

Research Questions

- What are popular consultations and how have they been employed in civil society led campaigns to oppose mining and other extractive projects in Colombia?
- What are the strengths and limitations of popular consultations as a mechanism for extractive governance?
- How did popular consultations come to be used in extractive governance, and why was it stopped?

1.2. Background information

1.2.1. Extractivism in the Colombian context

It's difficult to do research on Colombia, without also touching on the Colombian conflict, as it has permeated almost every aspect of Colombian society in one way or another. The conflict has played a role in the transforming of the countryside, in putting land into the hands of a decreasingly number of people(Gómez, Sánchez-Ayala, & Vargas, 2015; Grajales, 2011, 2015), making Colombia the most unequal country in Latin America in terms of access to land according to Oxfam (Oxfam, 2017).

Despite all the minerals that were known to exist in the ground, for a long time, many international mining companies were reluctant to enter Colombia because of the internal conflict in the country. The conflict, with its intricate array of actors, ranging from left-wing guerrilla groups to right-wing paramilitary, criminal groups and the Colombian army, has lasted for over half a century and resulted in millions of internally displaced people. To attract more foreign direct investment to the country, despite the conflict, the Colombian government simplified the process of obtaining mining titles and increased the juridical and terms for exploration and extraction in the country, in the beginning of the 2000s (Pardo Becerra, 2013). The extractive industries have been seen as a way to boost the Colombian economy, and bring progress. During the government of former president Juan Manuel Santos, mining was defined as one of the main locomotives for economic development (DNP, 2015). It was also seen as an important income to help pay for the initiatives in the peace agreement that signed with the guerrilla group FARC in 2016.

Not everyone has agreed with this line of development. All kind of mining—from small-scale, artisanal to large scale open pit or subterranean projects—have environmental risks, and while there can be a lot of money in the extraction of minerals, this does not always equal

economic prosperity and development for the communities living where the minerals are extracted. In some cases, the complete opposite has been found to be true (Rudas Lleras & Espitia Zamora, 2013). Colombians don't need to travel far to see the possible devastating environmental and social effects mining can have. In parts of Colombia, artisanal and illegal mining has led to deforestation and the destruction of river beds (Sierra Praveli, 2019), and the use of mercury in the processing of gold is polluting rivers and air (Cordy et al., 2011; Fierro Morales, 2013; Güiza & Aristizabal, 2013; Olivero Verbel & Johnson Restrepo, 2002; Tierra Digna & Melo, 2016). Estimations from a study by Cordy et al. (2011), placed Colombia in «the shameful first position as the world's largest mercury polluter per capita from artisanal gold mining», and probably the third biggest polluter overall, after China and Indonesia (p. 154). The open-pit coal mines in the departments of La Guajira and Cesar have also been found to result in environmental problems, polluting water sources as well as producing health problems in workers and those living nearby (Cardoso, 2015; DanWatch, 2010).

Extraction of minerals has also had a way of making its way into the long-lasting Colombian conflict. In 1998, a bombing on a section of the Cusiana-Coveñas pipeline in the northeastern parts of Antioquia by the guerrilla group ELN, resulted in at least 84 deaths (Ó Loingsigh, 2017). According to numbers by Ecopetrol,¹ there were 2,562 attacks on Colombia's pipelines between 1986 and 2014 (Ó Loingsigh, 2017, p. 12). With rising gold prices, illegal mining has been an important source of income for guerrilla and paramilitary groups as well as criminal gangs (Wiss & Gurney, 2018), resulting in increased violence where this mining is taking place (Drost, 2014). But it is not only illegal mining that is marked by conflict. A link has also at times been found between extractive development and the military.

_

¹ Ecopetrol is a state-run petroleum company, and is the main petroleum company operating in Colombia.

In the department of Cauca, the planned mining project in La Toma has been related to increased militarization of the area (Sañudo et al., 2016). PAX (2016b) has seen a similar link in relation to the La Colosa project in Cajamarca, where the company has paid the Colombian military and police to better protect their project. Many times, the population in these communities feel like this placement of the military is not for their own benefit, but simply for the benefit of the extractive company.

Likewise, and more worryingly, some scholars and organizations have also found a link between extractive projects and paramilitary groups. This has been especially the case in mining districts in the department of Cesar. Throughout the 2000s, paramilitary groups have terrorized various communities, lead to increased displacement as well as killed social and environmental leaders (CNMH, 2016; PAX, 2016a; Quiñones Torres, 2015). In the department of La Guajira, and relation to the coal mine El Cerrejón there has also been a lot of violence and social conflict (PAX, 2014)

Despite the Colombian government's insistence that most of the problems that can be found in Colombia related to mining is because of illegal mining, that responsible, sustainable mining is the way to go forward (GDIAM, 2018), many people are opposing these projects. The environmental and social risks, as well as the possible loss of livelihood, are among the most common reasons. As a part of this resistance, group and communities opposing mining projects have been searching for ways to halt extractive development.

1.2.2. 1991 constitution and its antecedents

On the 4th of July, 1991, Colombia got its new constitution. The country had been through some violent decades and failed attempts at peace, but the new constitution represented something new, with inclusion of groups and movements that had been effectively held outside of Colombian politics. Indigenous groups and afrodescendants were properly recognized for

the first time, and the new constitution brought forth a wide array of tools for citizen participation. Among them; the popular consultation. With the new constitution, the Constitutional Court was created. The role of the court was to make sure that the constitution is followed. Any Colombian can appeal their case or through a *tutela*.

The 80s had been a particularly rough decade for Colombia. The rise of big drug cartels most notoriously Pablo Escobar and the Medellín Cartel—as well as urban guerrilla groups, like the 19th of April Movement (M-19), brought the war and violence to the cities. On the 6th of November 1985, the Palace of Justice in Bogotá was seized by members of the M-19. Through their television screens, Colombians could witness the surreal images of military tanks entering the palace at the main plaza in Bogotá in an attempt to regain control of the building. When the machine guns had silenced, and the last of the hostages were released, around 100 people were left dead—among them were almost half of the judges on the Colombian Supreme Court. Additionally were missing .. The decade ended on an especially violent note, when drug cartels tried to stop an extradition deal between the Colombian government and the United States through a series of bombing attacks and assassinations (Quintero Cerón, 2019). In 1989, Colombia had the highest murder rate in the world (Quinn, 1989). When the respected magistrate Carlos Valencia García was assassinated on the 16th of August 1989, and, only two days later, the same fate befell the widely popular politician Luis Carlos Galán—predicted by some to become the next president of Colombia—the Colombian people flocked to the streets to protest the situation of violence and impunity in the country. The protests spurred the student movement La Septima Papeleta, important in calling for the vote that lead to the creation of the constituent assembly that would write the new constitution.

Members of the assembly included representatives from demobilized guerrilla groups as well as indigenous representatives and representatives of religious minorities. 40% of the

constituent members did not belong to either of the two traditional political parties in Colombia. When the constitution was released it was seen as one of the most forwardlooking constitutions in Latin America and in the world.

1.3. Methodology

«Why us?». I was sitting in a simple office without windows at the local Jericó office of the South-African mining company AngloGold Ashanti—trying to further explain my research and the sampling of my cases beyond the information presented in the consent form I had given them earlier in the day. Before starting the interviews, they wanted to make sense of why yet another social researcher had wound up at their doorstep, and why my two main cases, La Colosa and Quebradona, were both related to their operations in Colombia. They were skeptical of my objectivity in relation to the research theme. They had had bad experiences with researchers before, they told me, especially researchers from Norway and the Netherlands. Why didn't I look at a case related to the company Drummond, for example? Or maybe illegal mining? I started wondering myself. Why was I sitting there? Why had I chosen exactly these cases? There were so many things I could have been looking into, so many problematics, so many themes.

Almost four years earlier, I had been sitting in a small, rickety plane on my way to the Colombian Pacific coast for Easter vacation. As an exchange student at the National University of Colombia, I would seize every opportunity to leave the chaos and pollution of Bogotá and explore the country that had become my second home. As the plane neared my layover in Quibdó, the capital of the department of Chocó, the landscape changed. The green tropical forest—more biodiverse than the Amazon—and the lazy rivers snaking its way along the almost flat landscape under us, were blotched with sores. Man-made ulcers in different shades

of green, yellow and brown. I already knew about the problematics—the spring of 2015, the Colombian government had started a huge offensive against illegal mining in the country—but seeing it for myself, from above, was something else. The extent of the damage made a huge impact on me, and sparked my interest in mining problematics in Colombia.

Still, when the time came to choose a theme for my master's thesis, I originally decided to focus on land problematics in relation to the Colombian conflict, and especially those related to monoculture oil palm plantations. How had I gone from oil palm, to extractive governance? And why was I now sitting in the office of AngloGold Ashanti in Jericó, looking into the usage of popular consultations in a place where none had ever been carried out? The decisive change of topic came after ruling SU-095 by the Colombian Constitutional Court in October 2018. The ruling effectively forbade the use of popular consultations in extractive governance in Colombia, and with it my attention was refocused back on mining problematics in Colombia.

The chapter is structured in the following way: First I will go through the research approach and explain why a qualitative method was chosen. I will then look at the research design, explain the use of a case study and how the sampling of the cases were done. Afterwards I will move on to what kind of data has been collected, how, as well as explain how I tried to ensure the validity and reliability of the data. I will then look at some ethical considerations before ending the chapter with an examination of some of the study's limitations.

1.3.1. Research approach and design

Qualitative method

As presented earlier in the introduction, the main objective of this study is to look at usage of popular consultations as well as its strengths and weaknesses as a participatory tool in extractive governance in Colombia. As my goal was to achieve a better understanding of the use of this tool, the development of its usage in extractive governance, as well as to understand

the context in which it has been used, I chose a qualitative research approach. A qualitative approach tends to be more based on an epistemological position where the «stress is on the understanding of the social world through an examination of the interpretation of that world by its participants». (Bryman, 2012, p. 380). It also lends itself for collection of data of a more descriptive kind. In this study, I have used both primary and secondary data. Most of the data, specifically the primary data on the chosen cases, is a product of three months of fieldwork carried out in Colombia from the end of November 2018, till the end of February 2019. Whereas the secondary data has been collected before, during and after the fieldwork.

Case study

To be able to get a deeper understanding of the topic I had chosen, I decided to do a case study. With a case study, a single, or multiple cases are studied in order to gain a deeper understanding of a broader phenomenon or category of events (Berg & Lune, 2012). Case studies can be used to examine «simple or complex phenomenon, with units of analysis varying from single individuals to large corporations and businesses to world-changing events»(Berg & Lune, 2012, p. 325). According to Yin (2012), case studies are especially relevant when the research questions addresses descriptive or explanatory questions, as a case study can produce rich descriptions and insightful explanations that can be hard to produce in other ways (p. 5). Multiple methods of data-gathering should be used to ensure a full examination of the case or cases (Berg & Lune, 2012). The methods used in this research are detailed in a following section of this chapter.

For this study I decided to do a multiple-case *embedded* case study. I am looking at two distinct cases—consisting of two planned mining projects by the same mining company in different parts of Colombia—to better understand the use of popular consultations in extractive governance in Colombia. At the same time, I look at the use of popular consultations in

extractive governance in Colombia as a case in itself, making the study an embedded case study where I look at and analyze sub-units of the overall focus of the research (Berg & Lune, 2012, p. 327; Yin, 2012). When planning my research, various cases were considered, but the final choice of cases were based on factors such as relevance, security situation and access. Though a peace agreement was signed with FARC in 2016, Colombia is still far from a secure place, and there are areas that have seen an increase in violence after the signing of the peace agreement. This is especially the case in parts of Cauca, Antioquia, and Chocó, all of them regions with problematics related to grand-scale, small-scale and illegal mining. For security reasons, for my own sake but especially for the sake of my possible research participants—social and environmental leaders and activists are often targeted in Colombia—I made sure to choose cases in relatively safe parts of Colombia, where there is less violence, and where activists feel like they can be more openly active.

The two sub-cases are: The La Colosa mining project in the department of Tolima, where two popular consultations against mining have been carried out and where the communities have been central in the development of the use of popular consultations in extractive governance; and the Quebradona mining project in the South-West of Antioquia, where no popular consultations have successfully been carried out, instead alternative process with the use of municipal agreement to halt mining operations have been used. Early in my fieldwork, scholars in Bogotá, working on themes around activism and extractive projects, told me how the activism in this part of Colombia was taking on a different shape than many other places in the country, with a bigger focus on territoriality and alternative development. At first glance, It might seem counterproductive to look at the usage of a completely different juridical tool when the main theme of this thesis is the use of popular consultations. The goal though, is to show how regional differences and the difference in how regional administrative courts operate

and rule, have had an impact on when and where popular consultations have been carried out in Colombia. I have chosen two contrasting cases, not necessarily to fully explain why they are diverging, but to give a broader understanding of the use of popular consultations in extractive governance in Colombia and why and how they have (or have not) been employed.

1.3.2. Data collection

In my research I have used both primary and secondary data. Most of the general data gathered on popular consultations have come through secondary sources. This ranges from reports, government documents, court rulings, news articles and opinionated pieces, as well as peer-reviewed scholarly articles and books. A lot of the data gathered on the individual cases have come through the use of primary sources: semi-structured interviews, participatory observation and field-notes written during my time out in the field, but I have also gathered information from newspapers, reports and scholarly articles and theses written on the cases.

To increase the validity of the collected data, and better corroborate my findings, I have triangulated a lot of the information (Berg & Lune, 2012). Information collected through Interviews have been triangulated with news articles written at the time of the happenings, government publications, other secondary sources, as well as with other interviews conducted during my fieldwork, narrating the same events.

Semistructured interviews

During fieldwork I conducted a total of 29 interviews. Most of the interviews were semi-structured, making it easier to keep a conversational tone and follow up on information that would come up during the interviews. Four of the interviews were group conversations: one at the University of Tolima; one in Piedras; one at the office of the mining company AngloGold Ashanti in Jericó; and one at the geological organization Terrae in Bogotá. All the interviews lasted anywhere from 15 minutes to two hours, with more than half of them lasting an hour or longer.

Of the 29 conducted interviews, 15 were directly related to the La Colosa case. These took place in Ibagué, Cajamarca and Piedras. Nine of the interviews were conducted in relation to the Quebradona case, and took place in Jericó, Támesis and Medellín. The case-specific interviews includes farmers and peasants, landowners, local politicians and activists. The rest of the interviews were more on general thematics around mining and popular consultations in in Colombia—among them a lawyer, an economist and some geologists—though some of these interviews also touched on the cases focused upon in this research. Two of the interviews were directly related to the process of popular consultation in Pijao that led to ruling T-445 by the Constitutional Court.

To get in contact with those that were of interest for my study I used a mix of different purposive sampling approaches during my fieldwork. *Snowball sampling* being the most used. I started out with a few key contacts that I had gotten through my supervisor, as well as some Colombian friends, and then it snowballed from there. I would usually ask my participants if they knew someone else that could be relevant to talk with and they would propose some people and ask them whether it was okay for me to contact them before giving me their contact information. Most of the interviews were planned, but some were casual meet-ups that turned into an interview. For example walking around in Cajamarca with one of my contacts on a Sunday morning, we stumbled upon various people that he knew, some of which were very central in the case I was researching. He presented me to them and asked them if they would like to, and had time to participate in an interview and then we took it from there.

Participatory observation

In addition to interviews, I was participating and observing a few meetings, and reunions that the different groups conducted. Some more formal, and more informal than others. In all cases, most, if not always all, of the participants were aware of my status as a researcher, and

the goals of my research. I tried to keep an observatory role in these reunions, but in especially one meeting in Támesis, my presence changed the course of the meeting and the things discussed, as the meeting turned more into a way for the members to present themselves and their organizations. It gave valuable information to me on a lot of the work they do, but at the same time I did not get to observe how these meetings are normally conducted. Additionally I participated in a demonstration in Jericó—one of the biggest they have had, I was told—as well as a small workshop on agroecological farming in Cajamarca.

1.3.3. Ethical considerations

As personal information, like written consent, audio recordings and content of the interviews, would be gathered and stored, I sent an application to the Norwegian Center for Research Data for permission to carry out my research and store data. The application was approved. Before starting the interviews, the participants were informed about the study, what it was about and its purpose. They were informed about their rights and that they were allowed to withdraw at any point. About two thirds of the interviews were recorded. Before recording, I would ask the participants if they agreed to be recorded.

Anonymisation

In this thesis I have decided to not name any of my participants—even those who explicitly told me it would be okay if I wanted to do so. There are various reasons for this. Firstly, for the general safety of my participants in the violent climate for social activists in Colombia (even though, again, I did my research in relatively safe parts of the country, and this would have been even more important in more dangerous parts). Some of my participants have received threats in the past, others might end up receiving threats in the future. Sadly, the situation for social leaders and human rights activist has become worse, rather than better since the peace accord with FARC [cinep/ppp2018a], and it is difficult to know what the future will

bring. Additionally, although various actors in the social movements in Colombia have decided to be openly active and visible in their communities, many organizations intend to be have an as horizontal leadership as possible, where it is the organization and cooperation within it, not individuals, that is the backbone of the movement. This was the case with most of the organizations I was in contact with throughout the research, for example the Environmental Committee in Ibagué and COA in the Southwest of Antioquia. I wanted to try to respect this intent.

Even though I have removed the names, it is almost impossible to properly anonymize when doing qualitative fieldwork, especially in small rural locations and when using snowballing to get in contact with participants (van den Hoonaard, 2003). Some of the communities I visited, especially when getting out of the municipal centers and heading out to the veredas and the countryside, are not often visited by foreigners. When someone new enters, people talk. I also realized how hard it can be to anonymize when reading other research on my cases, as I sometimes recognized people I myself had spoken with. Even when their names where not mentioned. Still, I have decided to add direct quotes from some of my interviews in this research, both for style, and because seeing it in their own words can help give some extra insight. I have tried to limit myself to citations that are hard to directly relate to one specific person, and/or with information and opinions that participants have expressed publicly many times before. There are relevant quotes, anecdotes and background stories—for example that give extra context to why activists are doing what they are doing, or might help give a better understanding of the communities—that I will not use because of ethical considerations. Some because the participant wanted to stay anonymous. Others because they were not really participants of the study and never gave an informed consent to begin with—this includes everything from random encounters on a bus ride to informal conversations with friends and

family member of participants, and people I got to know in some of the organizations I encountered. Some of these encounters have still been at the back of my mind during fieldwork and while working with the thesis. Thus they have likely had an influence on how I have worked with and analyzed the data.

1.3.4. Limitations

There are various limitations to this study. One of them is the lack of female voices on the case of Cajamarca—all of my respondents in regards to the Cajamarca case are men. In my ignorance, noticing the strong gender roles I wrongly assumed they had not played an important role in the process. I mistook their traditional roles and humbleness for lack of agency. It was a very humbling experience realizing that I had this preconceived notion, especially as woman myself. All the other places I went, Piedras, Jericó, Támesis, I made sure to speak with women, though still, the majority of my sources have been men.

Another limitation to my fieldwork is the lack of time. I only spent three months in Colombia, and of that time a mere couple of weeks were actually spent in Cajamarca, Piedras, Jericó and Támesis. Most of the time was spent in Ibagué and Bogotá. Many of the contacts I made, were made towards the end of my fieldwork and I therefore did not have time to properly follow up on some of them to plan an interview. Related to the time-constraint is also not properly realizing the scope of the cases while choosing them. Both of my cases are big, encompassing different municipalities and processes, complicating the gathering of data in such a short time span. Some of what might have been gained in scope might have been lost in depth.

1.4. Theoretical Framework

1.4.1. Judicialization of politics and judicial activism

As we will see throughout this research, the Colombian courts—and especially the Constitutional Court—have been key players in the processes of using popular consultations against mining. Additionally, social groups frequently employ constitutional rights in their activism, and appeal to the courts when they feel that their rights have been infringed. Because of this, and because of the remarkably strong judiciary in Colombia (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005; Feoli Villalobos, 2012; Uprimny, 2003; Wilson, 2009), judicialization of politics is a very relevant concept for this research. Judicialization of politics is a broad concept with many debates and theories encompassing how and why it happens, whether giving more power to the judiciary and courts is undemocratic, or whether it helps to keep the executive power in check and/or promote a protection of social rights—especially those of minority groups (for an overview of some of these discussions see for example Gargarella, Roux, & Domingo, 2016; Ginsburg & Versteeg, 2013; Rostow, 1952; C. Tate & Vallinder, 1995). Going through these debates is beyond the scope of this thesis, as my goal is not to contribute to the general conceptualization of judicialization of politics, nor to discuss whether the process of judicialization of politics can be seen as a positive or a negative in the Colombian case. Rather, I will be using the concept more as a tool to broaden the understanding of how popular consultations could develop to such a strong tool in extractive governance in Colombia although for a short period of time. Additionally, many scholars doing research on judicialization of politics and the judiciary in Latin America and Colombia argue that the theories developed in relation to the United States and Western Europe are not as relevant to Latin American countries—among other reasons, because of the different political and juridical

context, as well as the long history of violence and military dictatorships in many of the countries (see for example Landau, 2010 and the authors in Sieder, Schjolden, & Angell (2005)).

Judicialization of politics

The judicialization of politics normally mean either: 1. The increase of power of the courts and judges at the expense of the legislative and executive branches of government. 2. The spread of judicial decision-making methods outside of the judiciary. (T. Vallinder, 1994, p. 91)

Through a judicialization process, not only do the courts frequently intervene in policy-making processes, but it also tend to change the way political actors and social groups operate, for example in the way politicians propose legislation and take judicial reaction into account when drafting proposals to «ensure that legislation will neither be struck down nor interpreted in undesirable ways» (Ferejohn, 2002, p. 41). Judicialization most commonly happens through judicial, or constitutional review² (T. Vallinder, 1994), in which courts have the power to «examine the actions of the legislative, executive, and administrative arms of the government to determine whether such actions are consistent with the constitution» (C. N. Tate, 1998). According to C. Tate (1995), some conditions that might facilitate the judicialization process are: A constitutional bill of rights and/or «an acceptance of the principle that individuals or minorities have rights that can be enforced against the will of putative majorities» (p. 30); interest groups use of the courts to promote their rights; use of the courts by the political opposition; and the delegation of decisions to the courts by the majoritarian institutions. Tate also stresses that even if all conditions are present, this does not guarantee judicialization to

_

² Constitutional review is one form of judicial review, though the terms are often used interchangeably (Ginsburg & Versteeg, 2013, p. 589).

happen as > «judicialization develops only because judges decide that they should (1) participate in policy-making that could be left to the wise or foolish discretion of other institutions, and, at least on occasion, (2) substitute policy solutions they derive for those derived by other institutions.» (1995, p. 33]

Constitutional review

According to (Cappelletti, 1971), there are two main systems of constitutional review used around the world: A centralized system (European model) and a decentralized system (American model). The decentralized system is based on the system of constitutional review in the United States where all level of courts have the ability to make constitutional rulings, whereas the centralized system is based on the model in the Austrian constitution of 1920, where this power is restricted to a special constitutional court (Rosenn, 1974, p. 787).

Another difference is between abstract and concrete review. In the American model, the courts can only review concrete cases—where someone brings a case to the courts through standard litigation, claiming their constitutional rights have been violated and ask the court to review their case. Concrete review can only be applied on laws that are already in effect, and actions that have already happened, and usually only having an effect on that specific case. In the European model, the courts normally only review abstract cases. With abstract review, the court looks at a legislation or statue without an actual concrete case or controversy. In some countries, an abstract review must take place before the law takes effect, whereas in other countries you can have abstract review also afterwards, but without the need of a concrete case (C. N. Tate, 1998).

Even though a constitutional review to some extent reduces the power of the elected branches of government—as courts for example might be able to invalidate legislation or political actions if they are found to be unconstitutional—an increasing number of countries

around the world have introduced some form of constitutional review in the last half decade or so. According to Ginsburg & Versteeg (2013), about «38% of all constitutional systems had constitutional review in 1951; by 2011, 83% of the world's constitutions had given courts the power to supervise implementation of the constitution and to set aside legislation for constitutional incompatibility» (p. 587). Ginsburg & Versteeg (2013) argue that among the various theories proposed to explain the spread of constitutional review, the most likely is that of *«electoral market* theories that hold that constitutional review is adopted when constitution-makers envision themselves out of power after the adoption of the constitution» (p. 616), as a kind of insurance policy of their politics.

Judicialization of politics and judicial activism in Colombia

The process of judicialization of politics is seen as particularly strong in Colombia³ (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005; Uprimny, 2003). Laws, the judiciary and the constitution play an important role in Colombian society, and since the 1991 constitution, Colombia has seen the judiciary—most notably the Constitutional Court—become an increasingly powerful political actor, continuously pushing for social rights (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005; Feoli Villalobos, 2012; Uprimny, 2003; Wilson, 2009). Rulings by the Constitutional Court are very commonly broadcasted and discussed in national media, and when they mention the «court», this almost always means the Constitutional Court (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005, p. 76).

According to Cepeda Espinosa (2005), former magister of the Colombian Constitutional Court, there are three important factors to the judicialization process in Colombia: 1. The judicialization process has been taking place since the beginning of the twentieth century. 2. It

_

³ There seems to be a general agreement among scholars looking at judicialization of politics in Latin America that Colombia is one of the most judicialized countries in the region. Additionally, Colombia might have one of the most open systems of judicial review in the world (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005).

responds to the coexistence of a violent conflict. On one hand, flaws in the political system can be seen as an important factor in the judicialization process in Colombia, as it has not been able to properly respond to common social conflicts. At the same time various governments have used laws and constitutional amendments as peace agreements between actors in the conflict.

3. The judicialization of politics have taken an even stronger turn since the promulgation of the 1991 constitution, making the constitutional court an important political actor (p. 68).

Some possible explanations that are often brought forward to explain this strong process of of judicialization in Colombia is the long history of constitutional review, combined with the extensive rights in the 1991 constitution⁴; easy access to the courts; rampant violence; and weakness in the political system so that the judiciary is often looked upon to resolve problems that normally should be resolved in the political sphere (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005; Feoli Villalobos, 2012; Uprimny, 2003; Wilson, 2009). Additionally, human rights were increasingly on the agenda in Colombia in the 1990s⁵(W. Tate, 2007), and was an important theme in the construction of the 1991 constitution, which might have helped the Constitutional Court to its role as a protector of social rights and marginalized groups (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005).

Colombia operates with a very extensive, mixed system of constitutional review. The system is open to both abstract and concrete review, and it is decentralized—any court can rule

_

⁴ In the words of Uprimny (2003): «when the Constitutional Court began operating in 1992 the Colombian legal and political culture was already very familiar with judicial review, to the point that few in the Colombian judicial community thought it strange that the court had the power to annul governmental decrees or laws approved by Congress. The court could therefore act vigorously, without fear that the executive branch or the political forces would decide to shut it down, as has happened in other countries where the first task of a constitutional court has been to secure legitimacy for its role» (p. 61).

⁵ Even in the political sphere, to some extent. During his presidency, Ernesto Samper (1994-1998) admitted that Colombia had a human rights problem. This was in contrast to former presidents that had been rejecting this fact. «We had to admit that we had a human rights problem. It was a reality, and what we had to change was not the image of the problem abroad but the reality itself. That was the philosophy that I worked from» (interview with Ernesto Samper in W. Tate (2007), p. 61).

on constitutional matters—while at the same time having a Constitutional Court standing above the others. The courts are easily accessible, with the tutela being the most important tool used to access the system (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005). The tutela can «be brought forward by any person before any judge with territorial jurisdiction in order to prevent or stop the violation of her/his constitutionally protected rights» (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005, p. 74). A tutela has to be resolved within 10 days, and any ruling can be appealed to a higher court. The Constitutional Court can pick cases at their discretion, and review any case they deem to have been incorrectly decided (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005, p. 74).

Since its creation, the Constitutional Court has on many occasions carried out rulings opposing the national government—especially on the use of presidential extraordinary powers (Uprimny, 2003)—and has pushed for the rights of various minority and disadvantageous groups. Among them indigenous groups, internally displaced people, homosexuals and HIV/AIDS positives (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005; Wilson, 2009). It does not have a history of opposing the government on matters of territory though. According to Vale (2013), in these cases the constitutional court has tended to follow the recommendations of the attorney general (procurador general).

Because of easy access to the courts, and the strong support the Constitutional Court has shown to social rights through its ruling, many social movements and groups have actively employed the judiciary to fight for their rights (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005; Wilson, 2009). According to Cepeda Espinosa (2005) «this is, perhaps, a side effect of two factors: the existence of the *acción de tutela* and its impact upon citizens' grasp of the constitution's potential and relevance for their ordinary lives, coupled with the inability of normal political channels to deal with the pressing problems that affect Colombians on a daily basis, which are thus deferred to judicial resolution» [p. 76]. He also asks whether this system might ultimately

be unsustainable as «the «losers» are often powerful interests that may combine forces to push forward constitutional amendments to reduce the power of the court» (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005, p. 100). Various presidents have unsuccessfully tried to limit the extent of constitutional review through constitutional amendments (Uprimny, 2003), though in general the Colombian constitution and Constitutional Court seems to be in high regard in Colombian society. When some congress members of the political party Centro Democratico⁶ recently proposed a constitutional amendment that would open up for citizens to annual interpretations by the Constitutional Court through referendums (El Tiempo, 2019a), this was not received well, even by many within the same party (El Tiempo, 2019a).

⁶ Colombian Political party founded by former Colombian president Álvaro Uribe (in office from 2002-2010).

2. Popular Consultations and their use in extractive governance in Colombia

Through this process, a constitution has been born. But we should keep in mind that additionally, a participatory democracy has been created. Now let's all repeat this expression. We are not just talking about democracy anymore, but a participatory democracy, a democracy of popular participation.

César Gaviria Trujillo, promulgation ceremony, 4th of July 1991. (El Tiempo, 1991)

We don't want anything revolutionary. We just want the government to respect its own laws, and the constitution.

Environmental activist (Interview, January, 2019)

As extractive development has increased in Latin America, there has also been an increase in social conflicts related to extractive projects (Bebbington & Bury, 2013). In various countries, communities have tried to show their opposition to this development through the usage of various tools of local referendums. In the time period between 2002 and 2012, 68 referenda or popular consultations were carried out against large-scale mining projects in five different Latin American countries (Walter & Urkidi, 2017). Despite popular consultations being a constitutional tool of participation with strong legal support in Colombia, the first popular consultation against extractive development did not take place until the 2013, and in the years it was used this way (2013-2018), it was a highly contentious tool. In this chapter I will try to give an overview of what popular consultations are and how they work in Colombia,

how they came to be used in extractive governance, and a general overview of this use and how the government have tried to stop it.

2.1. Popular consultations: What they are, and how they work

2.1.1. When to use a popular consultation

A popular consultation is a participatory tool used to let the inhabitants partake in important decisions at a municipal, departmental, or at a national level through an election. The popular consultation is one of seven participatory tools established in the Colombian Constitution of 1991 (article 103). The other six are; the right to vote, the plebiscite, the referendum, the *cabildo abierto*, the right of legislative initiative and the recall vote. All of the participatory tools are regulated through law 134 of 1994 as well as law 1757 of 2015. These laws details the process of using these tools, as well as in which instances they can be employed.

At first glance, the popular consultation can seem quite similar to other participatory tools that call for an election—like the referendum and plebiscite—but they all have different applications. In Colombia, the referendum is only used to have the citizens accept or reject a proposed law or regulation, or to repeal an existing one (article 3, law 134/94). As an example, the constituent assembly that rewrote the constitution in 1991, was called through a referendum. A plebiscite is used to let the population show their support for (or disapproval of) a political decision, and can only be called by the president (article 7, law 134/94). There have only been two plebiscites carried out in Colombia: The first one in 1957, when Gustavo Rojas

Pinilla, leader of the transitionary military government, called for a constitutional reform⁷. The second plebiscite was the vote called by president Juan Manuel Santos in relation to the peace accord signed with FARC in 2016. The popular consultation is for all other decisions that can be put up for a popular vote and can be called if it adhere to the following conditions:

- 1. It has to be related to the correct head of affairs. The president can call for popular consultations on a national level, governors on a regional/state level, and mayors for municipal and local affairs.
- 2. It cannot be a project trying to change a legal act, law or resolution.
- 3. It cannot be related to themes that implicates a change in the Political Constitution of Colombia.
- 4. It should not be of such a character that it would invoke a constituent assembly. (Registraduría, n.d.-a)

In addition to this, the question needs to be clear and presented in such a way that the citizens can answer yes or no (article 52, law 134/94). The results of a popular consultation are obligatory, but for the vote to be deemed valid, it demands a minimum threshold of participation of one third of the electorate. If the consultation reaches the threshold, and there has ben an affirmative vote reaching over half the voters, the results of the consultation has to be carried out (article 55, Law 134/94)

Most of the popular consultations that have taken place in Colombia have been carried out at the municipal level. There have been none on departmental level, and only one at national level: a recent consultation against political corruption that did not reach the necessary

_

⁷ The constitutional reform that was voted upon, validated what is now called the National Front—an agreement between the Liberal and Conservative party to rotate power, after years of conflict and violence. The National Front effectively excluded all other political parties from participation and lasted until 1974. Even though it was called a plebiscite, the content of the vote was more in line with a referendum (El Tiempo, 2016).

threshold⁸ (Registraduría, 2018b). Since its implementation popular consultations have been used for a wide range of topics. Everything from rejecting violence,⁹ make decisions on environmental issues¹⁰; to change the location of municipal buildings—though the most common use has been in the creation of new municipalities, or in delimiting municipality borders (MOE, 2012). In the period from the law regulating the participatory tools came into effect in 1994, until the end of 2011, 32 popular consultations were carried out in Colombia¹¹ (Registraduría, n.d.-b).

-

⁸ The national level consultation was carried out in August 2018, with a series of propositions on how to reduce corruption in the country. It was the result of a citizen initiative started by Claudia López Hernández—member of the Colombian congress and recently elected mayor of Bogotá—and backed by over four million signatures, three million of them which were deemed valid (Registraduría, 2018a). All the seven questions reached an affirmative vote of over 99%, but because of low voter turnout—only 32% of the electorate voted, just below the threshold—the results were not deemed valid (Registraduría, 2018b).

⁹ The first popular consultation carried out in Colombia was in 1995, in the municipality of Aguachica, Cesar. It was an innovative and bold consultation in which the inhabitants of the municipality were asked whether they rejected violence and agreed on turning the territory into a model of peace. The popular consultation was organized after an increase in violence in the municipality, at the hand of various armed groups, and after an esteemed local doctor, José Padilla, was assassinated (Verdad Abierta, 2015). The consultation was carried out in August 1995, but did not reach the necessary threshold. A few other municipalities, heavily affected by the conflict and the rise of paramilitary groups, carried out similar consultations in the following years—though the consultations had little more than symbolic value, and, in some cases, the initiatives directly resulted in increased violence and in the targeting of the promoters. For example, before the consultation in Aguachica, pamphlets circulated, saying that the consultation would not affect the violence in the region (El Tiempo, 1995). In 1996, various of the promoters of the consultation were murdered. Documents and photos documenting the popular consultation started disappearing, and when the mayor behind promoting the popular consultation, Luis Fernando Rincón, ran for mayor again in 2000, he was assassinated (Verdad Abierta, 2015).

¹⁰ In 1995, Santa Marta had a popular consultation trying to turn the Sierra Nevada of Santa Marta into a heritage area, guaranteeing the autonomy of the indigenous communities living in the area, as well as to conserve the biodiversity and protect the watersheds. The consultation, like many others, did not proceed because of low voter turnout. In 2000, Bogotá voted yes for a yearly car-free day through a popular consultation. There have also been popular consultations carried out to stop the development of landfills (MOE 2012).

¹¹ Popular consultations with two questions carried out on the same day in the same municipality, are counted twice. For a more detailed overview of the popular consultations carried out before 2012, check out MOE (2012)

2.1.2. The required process to carry out a popular consultation

For a popular consultation go forward, the question needs to be brought to the correct governmental entity, and approved. Along with the proposed question, there needs to be a justification for carrying out the consultation and a planned date for carrying it out. In the case of a national consultation, the president needs to present the information to the Senate; in the case of regional consultation, the governor needs to present the information to the Departmental Assembly; and in the case of municipal consultations, the mayor needs to present the information for the municipal council for a vote. If the consultation is approved, the planned question is then submitted for a review through the correct courts to make sure that it is constitutional. In the case of popular consultation at municipal level, which is most relevant for this topic, the question is sent to the correct regional administrative court. If the question is deemed constitutional, the popular consultation can be carried out (law 134/94).

Until 2015, a popular consultation could only be brought forward by the president, a governor or a mayor (law 134/94). This was changed with the new law of participation in 2015, which goal was to further strengthen the participatory tools in Colombia (law 1757/15). With the new law, a popular consultation can be initiated by any individual, group of citizens, organization, a political movement or -party. To initiate a popular consultation this way, a petition, which includes the proposed question for the popular consultation, has to be registered at the *Registraduria Nacional del Estado Civil* (National Civil Registry [Registraduria]). The promoters then have six months to collect the necessary signatures in support of the initiative: 5% of the electorate for a national consultation, 10% for a local consultation. After the collection, the signatures have to be deemed legitimate and approved by the Registraduría. If all these requisites are carried out and the question is deemed constitutional by the courts, the process of a popular consultation can go forward (law 1757/15).

2.1.3. Legal foundations for use in extractive governance

The use of popular consultations in extractive governance has been highly contentious. There are many levels to the debates on extractive governance in Colombia and who should be able to have a say in the decision-making and why. Debates touching on economics, development, territorial sovereignty, participation and democracy, the environment, livelihoods and culture, among other things¹². The core of the matter though, especially when it comes to the legality and legitimacy of the use of popular consultations in extractive governance, has been on the state's constitutional right to the subsoil and its resources, what this actually entails and whether it overrules rights of autonomy to the territories (Dietz, 2018; R. Negrete Montes, 2017; R. E. Negrete Montes, 2013; Vargas Valencia, 2013,). The state's right to the subsoil is enshrined in article 332 in the Colombian Constitution of 1991, which states that «the State is the owner of the subsoil and of the natural non-renewable resources». This right was reinforced in the mining code of 2001, which stated that «. . . no regional, sectional or local authority can establish areas in the territory that are permanently or temporarily excluded from mining» (article 37, Law 685/2001)¹³. The legitimacy of the use of the tool has been dependent on the current understanding of the constitution and laws related to the subsoil, mining and popular consultations. Jurisprudence set by the Constitutional Court has had a huge impact on the carrying out of popular consultations, both opening up for its use (Dietz, 2018; Roa-García, 2017), and closing it (SU-095/18; C-053/19).

One of the strongest legal foundations for the defense of popular consultations in extractive governance—in addition to territorial autonomy—has been the Municipal Law from

¹² The series of books on mining and mining problematics in Colombia published by the Controlaría gives a wide overview of many of these debates. See (Garay Salamanca, 2013c, 2013d, 2013a, 2013b). ¹³ This article was later deemed unconstitutional and removed.

1994. This is the law that has been used as argumentation in various of the rulings by the Constitutional Court in favor of the use of the tool. Article 33 in the Municipal Law states that:

When the development of projects related to tourism, mining or other kind threatens to create a significant change in the land use, or leads to a transformation in the traditional activities of a municipality, a popular consultation shall be conducted in accordance with the law. The responsibility of these consultations will be the responsibility of the respective municipality. (Law 136/94)

Not only does it say that municipalities have the right to organize a popular consultations under these circumstances, but that they *should*. The article has been tried appealed as unconstitutional various times, and was finally removed by the Constitutional Court in February 2019, through ruling C-053.

2.2. Popular consultations in extractive governance

2.2.1. Antecedents

The popular consultation in Esquel, Argentina in 2003, is often cited as an inspiration for the popular consultation in Piedras in 2013—the first of its kind in Colombia (for example Dietz, 2018, mcneish2017a). In my interviews, the only time Esquel was mentioned, it was to emphasize that even though this is often repeated, this was not the case. That the inspiration for the popular consultation in Piedras was other environmental popular consultations carried out in Colombia (Interview, January, 2019)¹⁴. Either way, with so many different actors, environmental conflicts and similar processes going on at the same time, it is highly likely that

-

 $^{^{14}}$ More details of this process in Piedras will be provided in the next chapter-

the inspiration can have come from many holds at the same time, as well as started different places, with luck and coincidences making Piedras the first. The most important thing to note though, is that the popular consultation in Piedras wasn't created in a vacuum, and can be seen as an extension of similar processes of citizen participation other places in Latin America (Walter & Urkidi, 2017) as well as within Colombia (Roa-García, 2017), and a wish of some kind of inclusion and citizen participation, without necessary knowing what shape it can and should take.

Before the popular consultation in Piedras, there were other examples of communities using a legislative or participatory initiative trying to protect local territory against extractive development. Even intents at using popular consultations to stop extractive projects. Some of these earlier attempts did not necessarily explicitly try to prohibit mining, but implicitly tried to do so through the protection of water sources and páramos¹⁵. Here I will focus on some of the antecedents within Colombia, as well as the gradual moving of the frontier of discussing territorial autonomy within extractive governance.

Intent of national referendum on water rights

In 2007, an initiative for a referendum regarding water rights was started in Colombia. There were various reasons for the initiative, among them the increased pressure put on important water resources with the continuous focus on extractive development. The referendum proposed to incorporate five new principles into the constitution: «the state's responsibility for the protection of water and of ecosystems that maintain the hydrological cycle; the declaration of access to water as a fundamental human right; the requirement to respect the cultural value of water for ethnic groups; the free provision of a minimum amount

¹⁵ A páramo is a type of ecosystem found in the highlands in the northern Andes, that are generally humid and very important for the water supply.

of water to all; and the direct provision of water and sewerage services by the state or by organized communities» (Roa-García, 2017, p. 63). The initiative was promoted by more than 60 organizations (El Espectador, 2009), supported by the global water movement, and received over two million signature—45% above the necessary threshold—but it never made its way past the Colombian Congress and to the polls (Roa-García, 2017). During its time in congress, the content of the proposed changes were so distorted that it didn't even look like the original attempt when the proposed referendum was finally put down in 2010 (Roa-García, 2017).

Popular normative initiative - Cerrito, Santander

In August 2010, the municipal council of Cerrito, Santander, approved a popular normative initiative 16 prohibiting mining in the páramos of the municipality, as well as recognizing their important role in the water cycle (Roa-García, 2017). This came after two decades of environmental conflict related to coal-mining in the Almorzadero páramo in Santander, and the use of various other mechanisms in the process(Sandoval, 2012). The municipal council, with the help of a resolution by the Autonomous Corporation of Santander, managed to stop the extraction by Minalmo the same year. Finally, when the community learned about the granting of new mining titles in the páramo, they decided to use a popular normative initiative to prohibit mining. The popular normative initiative in Cerrito is the only popular normative initiative that has ever been carried out and approved in Colombia (Roa-García, 2017, p. 63).

_

¹⁶ A popular normative or legislative initiative is one of the seven participatory tools in the Colombian constitution of 1991. Through the use of signatures, people can call forth legislative and normative changes at local, departmental or national level (Ley 134/94).

Popular consultations - intents in Santander and Norte de Santander

With the Almorzadero páramos encompassing an area of 16.356 hectares—8.395 of which have mining titles—covering various municipalities over two different departments, there have also been other initiatives against mining in the area. Because of the importance of the ecosystem for the whole region, a process to protect the páramos through a popular consultation was initiated in both departments in 2011 (MOE, 2012; Roa-García, 2017). The question for the consultation initiated in Santander was deemed unconstitutional by the Administrative Tribunal of Santander, whereas the question for the one initiated in Norte de Santander got a green light in its respective administrative tribunal. The date for the popular consultation in Norte de Santander was set for the 30th of October 2011, the same day as the regional and local elections. The proposed question did not specify mining or extractive development, but sought to recognize the páramo as worth of conservation and protection, which would effectively prohibit mining in the area. Even though the consultation had gone through all the correct channels, and the question was deemed constitutional, it was never put on the ballots for the election. The excuse given was that all the logistics for the elections had already been carried out, and that it would be impossible to send out another ballot that included the question for the popular consultation (MOE, 2012).

Municipal agreements - Prohibiting mining in The Southwest of Antioquia

Though the earlier mentioned examples were trying to prohibit mining indirectly through protecting the important ecosystem of a páramo, some more direct attempts at prohibiting mining was starting to take place in 2012 in the Southwest of Antioquia. Throughout the year of 2012, the municipal councils in Támesis, Urrao and Jardín prohibited mining activities in their territories through the use of municipal agreements agreed (Londoño Calle, 2012). These municipal agreements, and similar agreements in other parts of Colombia that were

implemented later, were important in bringing the question of territorial rights—what it really entails that the state owns the rights to the subsoil and its resources—on the national agenda. It also pushed the government to issue decree 0934 in 2013, trying to prohibit municipalities from prohibiting mining (El Espectador, 2013).

2.2.2. Popular consultations carried out against extractive development in Colombia

On the 28th of July, 2013, Piedras carried out their historical popular consultation against mining projects in their territory. It was the first time a popular consultation of this type had successfully been carried out in Colombia (Roa-García, 2017). On the 15th of December the same year Tauramena, in the department of Casanare, followed suit (Registraduría, 2013). Tauramena is an oil-producing municipality; during the oil boom in the 80s they experienced economic growth and development, but they also got to experience the bad consequences when the bubble burst (Rojas & Semana Sostenible, 2018). With plans of a new oil project, the community wanted to be included in the decisions on how these kind of projects are developed and what parts of the territory. Citing the Colombian constitution, the Mining Code and decree 0934 issued earlier in 2013, the national government deemed the use of the tool unconstitutional (Dietz, 2018). Before the planned date, representatives from various governmental entities traveled to Tauramena trying to convince the local government not to go forward with the consultation, but the organizers decided to go forward with the vote despite this (Molano Jimeno, 2013). After the first two successful popular consultations, the municipality of Monterrey—also in the department of Casanare—programmed a vote for April, 2014 (El Espectador, 2014), but before the planned date, a tutela interposed by the oil company Ecopetrol against the process resulted in the popular consultation having to be suspended (Registraduría, 2014).

After the failed attempt in Monterrey, the wave of popular consultation slowed down. In fact, as can be seen in Figure 1, it would take years before another popular consultation again would be used in extractive governance.

2.2.1. Changing legislation and jurisprudence

The explanation for this can be found in the changing legislation on mining, territory and rights to the subsoil, as well as jurisprudence by the Constitutional Court and other Colombian courts. Here I will give a quick overview of some of these development. For get a better grasp of what happened when, see the timeline in appendix A.

2013-2015: Intents of strengthening the State's right to the subsoil

As mentioned earlier in this chapter, on May 9th, 2013, the Colombian government issued decree 0934, which tried to regulate article 37 of the Mining Code and prohibit municipalities from prohibiting mining. This decree was used as an argument by the Council of State when they suspended the popular consultation in Monterrey. «The National Attorney General (Procuraduría General) filed a complaint because the decree violated territorial autonomy» (Roa-García, 2017, p. 64). In March, 2014, before the Council of State issued a ruling on the constitutionality of the decree, the Constitutional Court issued ruling C-123 on the constitutionality of article 37 of the mining code. The court stated that the article was constitutional as long as local authorities was taken into account when making decisions in matters of extractive exploration and exploitation, to assure the protection of a healthy environment (C-123/14). In September 2014, the Council of State suspended decree 0934 (Roa-García, 2017).

After the suspension of the decree, the Colombian government quickly and silently issued a new decree, in the middle of the holiday season (decree 2691 of 2014), which would later be nicknamed the Christmas Decree. This decree also tried to make it harder for local government

to regulate or prohibit mining. The decree was temporarily suspended by the Council of State on the 2nd of July, 2015, as «it limited the rights constitutionally granted to local authorities to make land use decisions in their jurisdiction» (Roa-García, 2017, p. 64).

2016: Solidifying territorial autonomy in extractive governance

With ruling C-123 in 2014, the Constitutional Court had first made a reference to the importance of including local government in some way in matters of extractive development. In 2016, various rulings by the Constitutional Court would further solidify the rights to territorial autonomy in extractive governance. In February, the Constitutional Court issued ruling C-035. The ruling invalidated parts of the National Development Plan for 2014-2018, it prohibited mining in paramos on the grounds that the fact that the state has granted an environmental license to carry out extractive activities, is not an obstacle that the same state prohibits the carrying out of the aforementioned activity after issuing the license (C-035/16). «In this ruling, the Court restated the recognition of mining as an activity with significant socioenvironmental impacts affecting people and territories, and which poses challenges to municipalities in carrying out land use planning according to their mandates and responsibilities» (Roa-García, 2017, p. 65). In May, the Constitutional Court reviewed article 37 in the mining code again, this time suspending it. Finally, in August 2016, the Constitutional Court issued ruling T-445—what would turn out to be the most important ruling for opening up the use of popular consultations in extractive governance. Since the first popular consultations in 2013, various municipalities had tried to move forward a process of popular consultation, but they were all deemed unconstitutional by their respective administrative courts. Among them was an intent of popular consultation in the municipality of Pijao in the department of Quindío in 2015. The decision was appealed with the help of the organization DeJusticia, but the tutela was negated by the Council of State. In the end, the Constitutional

Figure 1: Popular consultations carried out in Colombia in relation to extractive development

2013					
Municipality	Date	Question		Results No	Related court rulings
Piedras, Tolima	July 28 th	«Do you agree, as a resident of Piedras, Tolima that in our jurisdiction, the following activities are carried out: exploration, exploitation, treatment, transformation, transportation, washing of materials that originate from large scale gold mining; or that materials that are harmful to health and the environment are stored or used, specifically cyanide and/or any other substances or hazardous materials associated with these activities; furthermore, that surface and ground water is used from our town in such operations or any other similar operations that may affect and/or limit the supply of potable water for human consumption, and for agriculture, the traditional productive vocation of our municipality?»	Mining and mining-related activities	98.8%	
Tauramena, Casanare	December 14 th	«Do you agree that seismic exploration, exploratory drilling, production and transportation of hydrocarbons are carried out in the rural districts/communities/divisions [veredas] of San José, Monserrate Alto, Monserrate la Vega, Guafal del Caja, Bendiciones, Visinaca, Lagunitas, Aguamaco, Zambo, Oso y Jaguito, where Tauramena's groundwater recharge area is located?»	Hydrocarbons	96%	
		2017			
Cabrera, Cundinamarca	February 26 th	«Do you agree, YES or NO, that in the municipality of Cabrera, Cundinamarca, as a Peasant Reserve area [zona de Reserva Campesina], that mining and or hydroelectric projects that transform or affect the use of land, water and the agricultural vocation of the municipality, are carried out?»	Mining and hydroelectric power	97.3%	

Cajamarca, Tolima	March 26 th	«Do you agree, YES or NO, that mining projects and -activities are carried out in the municipality of Cajamarca?»	Mining	97.9%	
Cumaral, Meta	June 4 th	«Do you agree, resident of Cumaral, that within the jurisdiction of the MUNICIPALITY OF CUMARAL (META), activities of seismic exploration, exploratory drilling and production of hydrocarbons are carried out? Yes or no?»	Hydrocarbons	99.4%	SU-095, 2018
Arbeláez, Cundinamarca	July 9th	«Do you agree yes or no, that in the municipality of Arbeláez, Cundinamarca, seismic activities, exploration, exploitation and washing of hydrocarbon and / or large-scale mining materials are carried out?"	Mining and hydrocarbons	98.5%	
Pijao, Quindío	July 9th	«Do you agree, YES or NO, that projects and activities related to metal mining, are carried out in the municipality of Pijao?»	Metal mining	97.8%	T-445, 2016
Jesús María, Santander	September 17th	«Do you agree, Yes or No, that activities related to exploration and exploitation of mining and oil are carried out in the jurisdiction of Jesús María, Santander?»	Mining and oil	97%	
Sucre, Santander	October 1st	«Do you agree, Yes or No, that activities related to the exploration and exploitation of mining and oil are carried out in the jurisdiction of Sucre, Santander?»	Mining and oil	98.2%	
		2018			
Fusagasugá, Cundinamarca	October 21st	«Do you agree, YES or NO, that activities of exploration, perforation and production of hydrocarbons, fracking and grand scale mining, are carried out in the municipality of Fusagasugá?».	Oil, fracking and grand scale mining	99.2%	

Table based on information from press releases and other information, retrieved from the Registraduría (https://www.registraduria.gov.co)

Court decided to review the case, which ended in ruling T-445 (T-445/16). The ruling stated that the Administrative Court of Quindío had misinterpreted earlier rulings by the Constitutional Court and emphasized that municipalities do have the capability to regulate the use of land in their jurisdiction to protect the environment, even when this results in the prohibition of mining (T-445/16). They did agree with the administrative court though, that the proposed question for the popular consultation should be deemed unconstitutional (T-445/16). After ruling T-445, administrative courts started approving popular consultations with questions regarding extractive projects and development, resulting in seven popular consultations carried out in 2017.

2018-2019: Closing the door

After ruling T-445, there was a general acceptance of using popular consultations in extractive governance, although the government still considered them unconstitutional. But in 2018, after the appointment of three new judges on the Constitutional Court, the tide turned. Companies that were affected by popular consultations filed complaints against them. One of them was the company Mansovar in relation to the popular consultation carried out in Cumaral in 2017. The Constitutional Court decided to review the case, and in October, 2018, the court ruled in favour of Mansovar, deeming the popular consultation carried as invalid (SU-095). The ruling effectively stopped and prohibited the use of popular consultations in extractive governance in Colombia (Semana Sostenible, 2018). Despite the ruling, the municipality of

Fusagasugá decided to go forward with the consultation that was planned for only a few days later (Semana, 2018). In 2019, the door was probably closed for good, as the Constitutional Court removed article 33—which have been one of the strongest card in the protection of popular consultations—from the municipality law through ruling C-053.

Although both rulings emphasized that despite deeming the use of popular consultations in extractive governance as unconstitutional, there should be some kind of mechanisms in place to include local government and communities in decisions of extractive development because of the big impacts these projects have in the territory (SU-095/18 and C-053/19).

2.3. Hindrance of execution of popular consultations

Since the first intents of regional popular consultations against extractive development in Santander and Norte de Santander, the government—or governmental actors—have continuously tried to hinder the execution of these popular consultations (Roa-García, 2017). In addition to the issuing of decrees, and using tutelas to invalidate consultations, this has also happened through threats, reducing polling stations, and by cutting funding.

2.3.1. Threats

Threats and warnings have frequently been used to try and stop popular consultations. The Procuraduría—a control institution overseeing other government institutions and agencies, which, among other tasks, make sure that public officials don't overstep their administrative boundaries—have been very active in this. They have issued threats and warnings in an attempt to deter mayors and council members from initiating and carrying out popular consultations. Before the popular consultation in Piedras, Tolima in July 2013, a warning was sent by Alejandro Ordoñez—then head of the Procuraduría—to mayors, governors and other representatives of local and regional government all over Colombia. The warning stated that the consultation was unconstitutional and that those who still went through with it would risk criminal action (Organizer of popular consultation in Piedras, Interview, January, 2019). In the beginning of 2014 the threats were made true, as the Procuraduría started an investigation on

Arquímedes Ávila Rondón, the mayor of Piedras (Cuevas Guarnizo, 2014). In other municipalities where popular consultations were proposed, similar threats were made.

2.3.2. Reducing polling stations

Another measure that has been used, is heavily reducing the number of polling stations in the popular consultations that are carried out. In Cumaral, for example, the number was reduced by 50% (Semana Sostenible, 2017a), the same was the case in Cajamarca (La Silla Vacia, 2017). This has been taken as a way of trying to repress the vote. Fewer polling stations leads to longer lines, and in worst case it can mean that not everyone has a chance to vote in time. In other cases, it can result in a longer travel distance for some voters, making them less inclined to vote. This can have an effect on the number of people who participate in the popular consultation. Considering that there is a threshold that has to be reached for a popular consultation to be deemed valid, reducing polling stations and making it harder to vote can in theory have a huge impact on the results.

2.3.3. Cuts in funding

In 2017—when numerous processes of popular consultations were in motion—uncertainty around funding ended up stopping a series of initiatives. Fund cuts was probably the most effective way of stopping planned popular consultations in the period they were deemed legitimate by the Constitutional Court.

On the 1st of October 2017, the municipality of Sucre, Santander, voted no to mining and oil exploration and exploitation in their territories. Like all the preceding consultations, the consultation had been carried out with funds allocated by the Registraduría. The next planned consultation was supposed to take place three weeks later, in Granada, Meta. Just a couple of days before the planned date, the mayor of Granada received a letter from the Registraduría, informing that the consultation had to be suspended. This was explained by lack of funds, as

the *Ministerio de Hacienda* (MinHacienda) would not allocate the necessary funds to carry out the vote (Semana Sostenible, 2017b). Mayors in other municipalities started to receive similar letters. La Macarena and El Castillo in Meta, San Lorenzo in Nariño, Córdoba in Quindío. All the consultations planned for the last months of 2017 were suspended for the same reason.

In a letter to Carlos Garzón Saboya in the Registraduría, Fernando Jiménez Rodríguez from MinHacienda stated that popular consultations on a local level, had to be funded by the local government. In the letter, this position was justified by referring to article 31 of law 1757 of 2015, that says that «when it comes to popular consultations, there are two courses of action: one for popular consultation at national level, and another for the territorial popular consultation», and that article 33 of the same law, states that when the president, or the regional mandates call for a popular consultation, not only do they have to establish the date of the execution of the consultation, but also the necessary provisions to carry it out, like a budget to cover the costs (Portafolio, 2 augost 2017).

MinHacienda was accused of trying to obstruct the planned consultations. MinHacienda on the other hand, retracted their original opinion and stated that they had already given the Registraduría their budget for the year. It was up to them to allocate sufficient funds to the consultations within their budget [elespectador2017e].

What complicated the matter further, was that as long as there was an uncertainty of who was supposed to finance the popular consultation, the municipalities could not take it upon themselves to pay for the local election. Even if they wanted and were able to do it. In Granada, the mayor offered to foot the bill, other municipalities wanted to do the same. Local fundraising was also considered. In all cases, the Registraduría said that they could not receive the money, that it was unconstitutional, and that only the correct entity could fund the popular

consultations—promising that funding would be coming from the national budget (El Espectador, 2018)

The debate continued on whether MinHacienda was effectively stopping the consultations, or if the blame was to be put on the Registraduría, and meanwhile, dates planned for popular consultations came and went, without a single one being carried out (Terrepaz, 2018). Various municipalities—among them Fusagasugá and San Bernardo in Cundinamarca, and Córdoba in Quindío—interposed tutelas against the suspensions, saying that their rights to participation and equality (as other municipalities had received funding) had been violated (Terrepaz, 2018). In June 2018, the Administrative Courts of Cundinamarca sided with Fusagasugá and San Bernardo saying that the financial situation has to be solved (Terrepaz, 2018).

State level					
State	Municipality	Theme of Consultation	Planned date	Reason for suspension	
Norte de Santander		Mining	October 30, 2011	Not added on ballot for regional elections	
Municipal level					
State	Municipality	Theme of Consultation	Planned date	Reason for suspension	
Boyacá	Gachantivá	Mining	January 27, 2018	Lack of funds	
Caquetá	El Doncello	Sismic exploration, extraction of oil and hydrocarbons	June 10th, 2018	Lack of funds	
Casanare	Monterrey	Exploration and exploitation of hydrocarbons in groundwater recharge areas	April 27, 2014	Tutela (Ecopetrol)	
Cundinamarca	Fusagasugá	Fracking		Lack of funds	
	Pasca	Hydrocarbons and mining	August 6, 2017	Tutela (ACIPET)	
	San Bernando	Hydrocarbons and mining	January 14	Lack of funds	
	Une	Mining	November 12, 2017	Lack of funds / Tutela	
Huila	Oporapa	Hydroelectric dams, mining and fracking	February 25, 2018	Lack of funds	
Meta	El Castillo		December 3, 2017	Lack of funds	
	Granada	Hydrocarbons	October 22, 2017 and November 6, 2017	Lack of funds	
	La Macarena	Hydrocarbons and mining	November 26, 2017	Lack of funds	
Nariño	San Lorenzo	Mining and hydrocarbons	December 17, 2017	Lack of funds	
Quindío	Córdoba	Mining	December 3, 2017 and January 21, 2018	Lack of funds	
Quindío	Salento	Mining	July 15, 2018	Lack of funds	
Santander	El Carmen de Chucurí	Mining and hydrocarbons	December 10, 2017	Lack of funds	
	El Peñon	Mining and hydrocarbons	November 5, 2017	Lack of funds / Tutela	

3. Cases: La Colosa and Quebradona



Figure 2: Location of projects (AGA, 2017)

We did everything quietly, we told each other: we are fighting a monster, if we start doing this publicly they are going to turn us into nothing, so let's do this quietly.

(Landowner in Piedras, Interview, January 2019).

3.1. La Colosa

In December 2007, president Álvaro Uribe revealed the La Colosa project to the Colombian people. In the mountains of Cajamarca—some 40 minutes from the city of Ibagué—the South-African mining company AngloGold Ashanti (AGA) was planning to build one of the ten biggest open-pit gold mines in the world (El Tiempo, 2007a). The discovery at La Colosa¹⁷ was AGA's biggest greenfield discoveries (AGA, 2012): Early estimations put the mineral deposit at 12.9 million ounces (Moz) (AGA, 2008) of gold. By 2017, the estimations had more than doubled, reaching 28.33Moz (AGA, 2017).

The project was expected to bring welcome income and royalties to Cajamarca, Tolima and Colombia, as well as some 1.200 jobs in the local community (El Tiempo, 2007a). Not everybody agreed with the rosy outlook of the project. Few days after the announcement, El Tiempo (2007b) published an article where various people stated their skepticism to the project, quoting possible social and environmental consequences. Among them Fernando Osorio, then governor of the department of Tolima, who in an interview said that where there is gold, there is misery (El Tiempo, 2007b).

Over the years, opposition against the La Colosa project grew. When AGA's plans of locating a processing plant and tailings dam near Doima, in the municipality of Piedras, became

¹⁷ La Colosa directly translates to the colossus. Though the name perfectly fits the project, La Colosa did not get its name for the size of the gold deposits, rather it is named after the mountain where the deposits were found.

known, the local community put up fierce resistance. In the summer of 2013 a popular consultation was carried out against mining operations in Piedras. It was the first popular consultation against an extractive project in Colombia. The vote in Piedras sparked a series of popular consultations in Colombia, and in 2017, a popular consultation was carried out in Cajamarca as well, halting the project. The popular consultation in Cajamarca made headlines around the world, whereas Piedras had been the first, Cajamarca became the symbol of the wave of democratic processes in extractive governance that was taking place in Colombia.

3.1.1. Background information

La Colosa - Project information

La Colosa is an open pit gold mining project currently on hold, with an estimated gold deposit of 28.33 million ounces (Moz) (AGA, 2017). The project is planned in the mountainous municipality of Cajamarca in the department of Tolima, about 150km west of Bogotá, and 30km west of Ibagué. The project has been envisioned as one of the biggest gold mines in the world and possibly the biggest in Latin America. The gold deposits of La Colosa was discovered in 2006 by AGA's exploration team (AGA, 2014), but preliminary work had been going on in the area for years before that. According to Colombia Solidarity Campaign, London Mining Network, Redher, & The Green Center (2013), AGA's first mining title for the project was expedited in January 2003, even before AGA registered its first Colombian filial under the name of Sociedad Kedahda. According to PAX (2016), AGA arrived in Tolima and Cajamarca already in 2000, and got their first mining title in the area in 2002. AGA had been one of the earliest international gold mining companies to enter Colombia, despite the security situation (PAX, 2016; Willatt, Timson, Pichard, Furuvald, & Ávila Sánchez, 2011)

Various reports have remarked on the various environmental and social concerns of the project. Among them regarding water usage; possible pollution of water sources, concerns of

the fact that big part of the exploration has been carried out in a forest reserve, and possible risks of having a processing plant and tailings dam in the municipality of Cajamarca (more detailed information about the concerns can be found in Colombia Solidarity Campaign et al., 2013, and @ikvpaxchristi2009).

A tailings dam and processing plant was originally planned in the municipality of Piedras, but after a popular consultation prohibiting mining and all mining related activities there in 2013, AGA looked into other possible solutions. In 2015, AGA presented a study in which an ore leach processing plant of reduced size and all other facilities could be located «on mountain» (AGA, 2016). The whole project is currently on hold, after a popular consultation in Cajamarca in 2017 prohibited mining activities in the territory.

Cajamarca

Cajamarca—often described as one of the main food baskets of Colombia—sits in the Central Andes, in the department of Tolima. It is about 30km west of Ibagué, and the main road between Bogotá and Cali goes right through the municipal center. The soil is considered very rich, which is often credited to the nearby volcano Machín. In the steep mountainsides, farmers, largely small-scale, are producing a wide range of of vegetables and fruits. Everything from bananas and plantains, to legumes, root vegetables, fruits and berries. Cajamarca is especially known as a big producer of beans and *arracacha*. Lately there has been a shift of focus towards export products with an increase in the production of avocado and especially *gulupa*. Because of the steep hill and mountainsides, the agriculture in Cajamarca has not

_

¹⁸ Arracacha is a root vegetable originating in the Andes. The leaves resemble those of parsnips, and the roots like something between a parsnip and a celery root.

¹⁹ *Gulupa* is a variety of passionfruit, sweeter than the variety *maracuyá*, which is the most common variety in Colombia

gone through much modernization and is still mainly reliant on manual labour. Many of the farms don't have any road access, and transportation of produce with mules is common.

Three rivers run through the municipality. The river Toche is born in the mountains here , before becoming river Coello, the most important river in the department of Tolima. 70% of the population of Tolima are benefitting from the Coello River (the municipalities of Cajamarca, Ibagué, El Espinal, Coello, Rovira, San Luis y Flandes) and it is an important water source for the rice farmers on the flat plains to the east of Cajamarca.

Because of the mountainous terrain and the important location along La Línea, one of Colombia's main roads, Cajamarca has at times been heavily implicated in the Colombian conflict. The urban guerilla group M-19 had operations in Cajamarca before it was disarmed. Afterwards FARC became a common presence, with the 21st and 50th front having camps in the municipality. Around 2003, paramilitary groups also started to have some presence in the area, intimidating peasants, and there was an increase in targeted murders, forced disappearances and forced displacement.

Figure 3: Photos from Cajamarca







Piedras

About an hour east of Ibagué, you find the municipality of Piedras, in many ways a complete opposite of Cajamarca. Descending the Central Andes going east, the landscape flattens and the temperature rises. Even when cloudy, the air is hot and stifling. The municipality, with a population of about 5600, stretches over 355km2 and is mainly rural. There are three *corregimientos*: Piedras, Doima and Guataquisito. Doima is where AGA's tailings dam for the Colosa project was originally planned, and where most of the activism has

taken place. Though the temperatures are high, and everything seemed quite dry and yellow when I was there in January, the municipality has good access to water. Various rivers and streams run through the municipality, with the Opía river being the most important; it starts in Ibagué, runs through Piedras, before flowing into the Magdalena river. The most important water source, though, is hiding below surface. Under the municipalities of Piedras, Ibagué and Alvarado, there is a huge aquifer considered to be the fourth most important in all of Colombia. It is from this aquifer that most inhabitants in Piedras get their water.

The flat land, and easy access to water, lend itself to large-scale industrialized farming. Whereas small-scale farming is the norm in Cajamarca, in Piedras, there are gigantic farms, stretching over thousands of hectares. Many of the landowners live in Ibagué or Bogotá, and have hired workers taking care of the daily operations. The area is famous for its rice, but there is also cattle grazing the scorched grass. In addition to agriculture, there has, since 1984, been extraction of hydrocarbons in the municipality²⁰. The extraction has lead to some discontent in the community, and there are people who argues that it has reduced water levels and increased draught in the territory (Lombana, 2010), though there don't seem to exist much research on the issue, nor was it an issue that was mentioned when I visited Doima. Inequality and poverty in the municipality is high: in 2014, 81,95% of the population lived in extreme economic poverty (Gobernación de Tolima, 2015, p. 82). This was an increase of almost 50% from 2011, when 55,62% of the population lived in extreme poverty. Basic infrastructure is lacking, the hospital in Piedras is underfunded, and at the school in Doima, not even the teachers have

 $^{^{20}}$ Since 2005, this work has mainly been carried out by the Norwegian company InterOil (InterOil, 2015).

internet access,²¹ though the municipality offers public internet access at the main plaza in each *corregimiento*.

Compared to other nearby areas, Piedras has largely been left out of the Colombian conflict: no guerrilla or paramilitary group has been operating out of the municipality. This could be explained by the presence of a battalion of the Colombian Army being stationed in the territory throughout the conflict, lack of support among he local communities, as well as the fact that flat, open land isn't necessarily the best landscape for guerrilla warfare. There has been instances when FARC has passed through the territory and kidnapped landowners on their way, in an intent to collect ransoms, but according to my sources, this has not been a very common occurrence.



Figure 4: Photo taken in Doima, Piedras

.

²¹ I was told by a teacher that apparently there is an internet connection to the school, which the principal does not allow anyone but him to access.

3.1.2. Reception of project, beginning of resistance

When the La Colosa project was revealed nationally in 2007, it was the first many of the inhabitants of Cajamarca heard about the project (PAX, 2016), which was also the case for those I spoke with in Cajamarca. AGA had arrived as Sociedad Kedahda in 2003²². People in Cajamarca had noticed that geologists had arrived in the zone, studying rocks, but until the televised announcement in 2007, few people knew what it was all about. With the announcement also came promises: La Colosa would bring progress and development to Cajamarca, it would erase poverty, create jobs and start agricultural projects. Youth that didn't see a future in Cajamarca were optimistic by the prospects and opportunities that could come with the projects (interview, January, 2018). Many of the activists I spoke with told how people would question whether they were against development when they voiced concern about the project.

In the beginning, many in Cajamarca looked positively at the project, but as more and more information was revealed and people learned what the mining operations would entail, the resistance against the project increased, some people who had initially supported the project, or worked for AGA, would later change their mind.

PAX, the gathering of information and the growth of environmental groups in Cajamarca

When La Colosa was announced in the media, the Dutch organization PAX was already present in town, organizing workshops on strengthening local democracy and citizen participation. When hearing about the project, some people went to them in an attempt to learn more about the project and mining (PAX, 2016). They knew it was going to be a gold mine,

_

²² Further research done by Pax (2016) relates that AGA might have arrived in Colombia and Cajamarca even earlier than first thought

but they didn't really understand what this would entail. Mining was something new in Cajamarca; except for some seasonal artisanal mining—at a very small scale in periods when agriculture was failing—no mining had been carried out in Cajamarca. People wanted more information. PAX, based on what they knew about the La Colosa project, decided to share information on similar mining projects carried out in other parts of Latin America (PAX, 2016, p. 6). Among them Yanacocha—the biggest gold mine in Latin America—located in the Cajamarca region in Peru.

A local organization called Ecotierra was created with a base out of the Pax's workshops. In the years to come, PAX became an important actor in relation to the La Colosa project. In the years between 2009 and 2013, PAX brought international experts on mining—among them the hydrologist Robert Moran—to study the projects and its possible impacts. They released their first report in 2009 with information based on the research done by Moran (IKV Pax Christi, 2009). PAX considered independent research to be important. From 2011 to 2013 they were conducting an independent study on the La Colosa project in cooperation with AGA and the Colombian government, the study was funded by Pax (PAX, 2016). Because of disagreements with Pax on the one hand, and AGA and the Colombian government on the other, the study was never published (PAX, 2016). Instead the recommendations based on the study was published in the local newspaper El Nuevo Día.

In addition to the work they did on gathering independent information—as well as trying to make AGA include the local community in the project, and keep them updated on what they were doing—it was also an important ally to the various groups that were popping up in Cajamarca, opposing the project. PAX funded various projects carried out by local groups in relation to the La Colosa project, especially projects focused on gathering and spreading

information. For example 14 million pesos²³ were granted to one organization to buy a camera, laptop and equipment needed to project video. This equipment was used to document the work of the organizations, like demonstrations, as well as to spread information (Activist, Interview January, 2019).

The role of the University of Tolima and the Environmental Committee of Ibagué

Also outside of Cajamarca, people started to question the project. The University of Tolima—a public university in the city of Ibagué, about an hour drive from Cajamarca—would soon become the center of opposing forces. The university of Tolima has a long history of environmental work, and one of its professors, Gonzalo Palomino Ortiz, is often referred to as one of the fathers of Colombian environmentalism (Patiño, 2009). In the 1970s, Palomino started an environmental movement based out of the University of Tolima. In the publication SOS Ecológico, environmental problems were broadcasted. As Palomino Ortiz (25th of February 2014) has stated about their work: > Wherever the ecological alarm sounded, there we were: there has always been more alarms than possibilities, but still, there we were. Always creating new ways of converting an aggression into a mechanism of spreading ecology, of education, of action.²⁴ (Palomino Ortiz, 25th of February 2014).

Students at the University of Tolima would meet to discuss the case of La Colosa, find information about the project, and ways to protest it. From these informal meetings, two important organizations were born: The *Comité Ambiental en Defensa de la Vida* (Environmental Committee in Defense of Life, from here on referred to as the Environmental Committee of Ibagué) and *Corporación SOS Ambiental*.

_

²³ Which equals around \$4100.

²⁴ Translation by author.

Other Colombian universities, like the University of Quindio in Armenia, the National University of Colombia, as well as the private universities of La Javariana, El Externado and Los Andes in Bogotá, played their roles. Professors and students flocked to the mountainous municipality to conduct research on La Colosa, some would return repeatedly and aid in the activism.

Through an increased network, the social organizations opposing the La Colosa project learned more about AGA and their plans in Cajamarca.

This is the advantage of having allies in the Congress. For example, if I, as a common citizen, makes a petition they are going to deny me the information, but if a person of that kind of level does it, they would have to give it to him out of obligation. The same in the ministry of mining (Interview, January, 2019).

3.1.3. The road to a popular consultation in Piedras

By 2012, AGA had decided that Doima, in the municipality of Piedras, would be a good spot for a processing plant, as well as the tailings dam for the Colosa project. The company arrived in the municipality silently, without disclosing their plans. People had started to notice their presence, but they didn't really know what it was all about, until a community meeting at the school in Doima on the 5th of December 2012. In the meeting, AGA informed them about their plans for the municipality, and emphasized that they were not looking for gold, just for a place to be able to process the minerals from the La Colosa mine. The meeting didn't last long, as it was suspended by the community when they learnt that AGA had already been conducting investigation in the territory for a year (Colombia Solidarity Campaign et al., 2013, p. 49).

As soon the inhabitants of Piedras knew about AGA's intentions in the territory, they started to work against them. Both peasants and big landowners were skeptical to what this project could mean for the municipality and their water sources. Activists from Cajamarca and

Ibagué came to talk more about the mining project and what it was that AGA planned to do in Doima. Some landowners had private reunions where they discussed possible courses of action. They had been working together before when the company Turgas wanted to build a gas pipe from the Toqui Toqui field in Piedras, to Cemex, a company producing cement in Ibagué, without the necessary permissions. Through that process, they had seen how easily things could be done without following the rules: if a gas pipe could be constructed without anyone «knowing», and nobody doing anything about it as soon as it was known, what would one of the biggest gold mining companies in the world be able to get away with? In one of the reunions, the idea of a referendum was brought up, but a lawyer present said that a popular consultation would be a more appropriate tool. None of the landowners had heard about the tool of popular consultation before, so they started to gather information on popular consultations carried out in Colombia, how they worked and what they needed to do to carry one out in Piedras. They also decided to go forward with their plan as quietly as possible. People in Doima and Piedras knew that they were up to something, but not necessarily what.

Meanwhile, a different kind of process was taking place in Doima. On the 23rd of December 2012, hundreds of people marched against AGA. The villagers held various community meetings at the school and in the veredas. In one of them, a peasant woman spoke up and said that they should block the road. The blockade was supported by the landowners, who supplied the protesters with food and materials to set up a comfortable camp. The women of Doima were central in the blockade, as they were the ones who stayed during most of the day while the men were working, and cooked for all those attending. The first blockade lasted for about three weeks, until the 19th of February, when the villagers realized that the mayor could get in trouble for not doing enough to stop it (El Nuevo Día, 2013). The blockade didn't end completely though. The villagers set up a rudimentary camp and system of surveillance

where they would know when anyone from AGA came and then stream out to block them.

This blockade ended up lasting for four months.

All of those I spoke with related to the process of Piedras spoke of the blockade with fond memories. It was especially one event that was mentioned by various of my interviewees as an example of the spirit of the community. The protestors had a tv at the camp where they were blocking the road. One night when a football match was on, the police came to the camp and asked what was going on. Some of the protestors started explaining the reasons why they were doing this, and at the end of the conversation they invited the police officers to join them for some food. In the end, everyone where sitting there together, eating and watching football.

Popular consultation

On the 18th of May, the proposal for the popular consultation reached the municipal council. In the municipal council ten of the council members voted in favour of the popular consultation whereas only one voted against it. Having been approved in the municipal council, the popular consultation and question proceeded to the Administrative Court of Tolima where it was deemed constitutional [@ elnuevodia2013a]. Though as both those who redacted it, and a lawyer told me: it would never have been approved today because of the unclarity and complexity of the question. After having been approved in all the necessary instances, the date of the popular consultation was set to the 28th of July, 2013.

The process wasn't over yet. When the organizers of the popular consultation were preparing for the vote, they realized that there were more registered voters in the municipality than inhabitants²⁵. «This means that supposedly even children, youth, babies, and those not yet

²⁵ It is quite common in Colombia, especially in smaller municipalities were few votes can be important for the results of an election, to register voters from other municipalities and bus them in for election day. This phenomenon goes under the name of *trashumancia* in Colombia, It is considered a kind of electoral fraud as voters have to live in the municipality where they vote. Before the local

born, had been voting» (Landowner in Piedras, Interview, January 2019). Realizing that their chances of reaching the necessary threshold were small when many of the registered voters didn't even live in Piedras, they decided to hold a meeting with politicians and ex-politicians in Piedras to find out where they had been bringing their voters from. «Luckily most of them came. We told them in the reunion: we are not here to judge you, tell us where you have been bringing them from, because we will also need to bring them». They told them that they would not pay the voters, nor bring their families, only the registered voters. They would fix transport and give them breakfast and lunch. They had buses from Ibagué, Bogotá, and even as far away as Cali. In Piedras, activists were trying to motivate the community to vote. Volunteers from the Committee Ambiental in Ibagué as well as local activists went from vereda to vereda to talk about the mining project. They brought showing equipment to show documentaries on gold mining and show the environmental damages.

The vote was carried out as planned on the 28th of July, 2013 and No won with 98,8% of the votes. Close to 59 per cent of the electorate voted: 2971 voted no and 24 voted yes (Registraduría, 2013). Because of the uncertainty surrounding decree 0935 from earlier the same year, the municipal council members were skeptical about signing the final municipal agreement that would make the results from the popular consultation valid.

3.1.4. The road to a popular consultation in Cajamarca

On the 26th of March, 2017, almost four years after the one in Piedras, Cajamarca carried out a popular consultation of their own. In the election, an overwhelmingly 97,92% of the voters said no to mining in their municipality (Registraduría, 2017). The process had started shortly after the vote in Piedras, but whereas things had run more or less smoothly for the

_

elections in 2019, the Registraduría tried to add more measures to reduce the amount of trashumancia.

organizers in the nearby municipality, the road would prove to be a lot more complicated for the organizers in Cajamarca. Like many other municipalities that tried to organize a vote in the wake of the popular consultations carried out in Piedras and Tauramena in 2013, the process in Cajamarca got caught up in the political and juridical struggle over who should get a say in extractive governance that was taking place at national level in Colombia at the time²⁶. At local level things were also more complicated. Whereas the popular consultation in Piedras had had support from the municipal council and mayor, the local government in Cajamarca was actively opposing the process every step of the way.

First seeds

After the popular consultation in Piedras the summer of 2013, a similar process was started in Cajamarca. While the mistrust with AGA and the La Colosa project had increased in Cajamarca—especially in Anaime, where many farmers in 2013 learned that AGA had been granted new mining titles in 2009, covering the land of their own farms—many people were in support of the project. Activists weren't really sure of how strong the support and the opposition towards La Colosa was in the municipality, and worried that they would not reach the necessary threshold of a third of the electorate if they were to organize a popular consultation. In other parts of Tolima people were also worrying about the project. La Colosa would be operating right near the beginning of the Toche river, an important source to the Coello.

As the La Colosa project might pose problems for the water sources that are important for the communities along the Coello river, a group of rice farmers and activists from different municipalities in Tolima met together with the environmental groups in Cajamarca to talk

²⁶ As seen in Chapter 2 on the general overview of popular consultations in extractive governance.

about the problems and their legal options after the popular consultation in Piedras. In the meeting it was decided that processes of popular consultations would be started in the municipalities of El Espinal, Ibagué, Roncesvalles, Rovira and Cajamarca. Because Cajamarca was the epicenter of the La Colosa project, they were to be the last one to carry out their popular consultation. It was thought that if the people in Cajamarca realized how much other municipalities were worrying about the environmental impact of the project, they would start to worry more about it themselves. Formal processes were started in Ibagué, El Espinal and Cajamarca, but only the one in Cajamarca would be carried out in the end.

As soon as the decision of going forward with a popular consultation was made, a lot of time was spent on formulating the questions that were to be used in the popular consultations. This was done with the help of lawyers, among them the Bogotá based group DeJusticia. «We spent a lot of time making the one single question, so that it wouldn't be denied. Not by the administrative court, nor by the national government» (interview, January, 2019).

First round in the municipal council of Cajamarca

At the time all of this was taking place, the question of whether popular consultations in the use of extractive governance was constitutional, was making its way through the courts. The planned popular consultation in Monterrey, Casanare, had been suspended in April because of a tutela interposed by Ecopetrol. The same month, the Procuraduría had started an investigation of the mayor of Piedras, Arquímedes Ávila Rondón, for overstepping his legal bounds in carrying out the popular consultation the year before (Cuevas Guarnizo, 2014). The mayor of Cajamarca received the petition for a consultation in July 2014. He responded to the petition and forwarded it to the municipal council, while at the same time expressing his fear of judicial retributions if they were to go forward with the proposal (PAX, 2016). It was decided

that a vote on whether to go forward with a popular consultation or not would be carried out in the municipal council in February, 2015.

In the months leading up to the vote, members of the municipal council were pressured from many holds (PAX, 2016). In December 2014, the Procuradoría summoned the council members of the municipality of Cajamarca to meetings in Ibagué and Bogotá (Arenas, 2015; Cuevas Guarnizo, 2015). In the meetings they talked about the illegality of prohibiting mining in their territory, and that if they went forward with a popular consultation they risked investigations and disciplinary proceedings. The disciplinary case against the mayor of Piedras was used as an example (Arenas, 2015; Cuevas Guarnizo, 2015).

Additionally, they received a letter from AGA where they threatened to «withdraw all current local development funding if there was support for the *consulta*» (Dietz, 2018, p. 9). According to some of the council members, the mining company also showed up outside the town hall—twice, during extra sessions called by the mayor to discuss the consultation—to remind them of all the jobs that would be lost if AGA was to leave Cajamarca (Arenas, 2015). There were also rumors circulating that guerrilla groups were threatening the members of the municipal council to vote in favour of the popular consultation—these rumors came after FARC supposedly burnt the car of an AGA employee in the township of Anaime—but this was categorically denied by all of the council members (PAX, 2016, p. 48). A few days before Christmas, the Ministry of Mining and Energy issued decree 2691 of 2014, again explicitly prohibiting local authorities from regulating extractive industries in their territories. When the vote was finally carried out in February 2015, 10 of the 11 council members voted no to the popular consultation (Cuevas Guarnizo, 2015).

Local elections of 2015 and change of participation laws

The vote in the municipal council was a hard blow to the social groups in Cajamarca, they felt that their elected members had completely let them down. If their municipal council didn't support them, they had to get people that did support them into the council. For the local elections of 2015, a list with people opposing the La Colosa project was put together, mainly farmers and locals with no former experience from politics. A similar project had been tried in the local elections in 2011, but none of the members on the list had gotten into the municipal council. In the end, a candidate positive to the La Colosa project became mayor of Cajamarca, but the new political list won three seats in the municipal council (Jaramillo Arango, 2017), and of the 10 members that had voted against the proposed popular consultation, only one managed to get reelected in the 2015 local election [local politician, interview January, 2019].

2015 also brought a new law of citizen participation, law 1757 of 2015, which seen as an opportunity to go forward with a popular consultations. The new law opened up for the process of popular consultations to be started if 10% of the electorate signed the initiative. A petition was started, and people walked from vereda to vereda to talk about the La Colosa project and collect signatures.

On the 8th of November, 2016, the new initiative for a popular consultation in Cajamarca was approved by the administrative court of Tolima. Now they just had to wait for the mayor to set a date for the election. On the 21st of November, through decree 083 of 2016, the date of the vote was set for the 27th of November, 2016. This caused an uproar among the civil society groups in Cajamarca as they did not see how they would be able to carry out all the logistics for the election in less than a week, and they felt like this was yet another blow from the mayor, trying to impede their democratic rights (El Nuevo Día, 2016). Because of the outcry from local groups, the Registraduría suggested the 21st of December as a date for the popular consultation, but in the end it was necessary to delay the vote until at least the 22nd of

January, 2017. As it looked like the popular consultation was going to go forward, AGA interposed a tutela to the Council of State, asking for a provisional suspension of the popular consultation. Their demand was denied.

Death of mayor, atypical elections, and preparing for the popular consultation

Just when things seemed to be going fine, the mayor of Cajamarca suddenly died of a health related issue. Atypical elections were carried out to elect a new mayor. The municipal council would stay the same, it would only be an election for the role as mayor. The popular consultation was further delayed till the 26th of March, and the atypical election was carried out on the 12th of March. Again, the candidate supporting the popular consultation, Julio Roberto Vargas, did not receive enough votes for the position of major.

The sults at the atypical election was a wake-up call for the movement. Did this mean that people in Cajamarca didn't really care about the project and whether it went forward or not? Would enough people end up voting on the day of the election to reach the threshold of one third of the electorate? The results of the election didn't necessarily mean that people didn't care or wouldn't vote in the popular consultation, it could also simply mean they didn't want or agree with Vargas as a mayor in Cajamarca. Various people had expressed that they felt he didn't have a proper program, they didn't know what else he stood for except for being against La Colosa, and some were expressing doubts about whether he was just using the project as a platform to get into politics.

Leading up to the election day, the town of Cajamarca seemed quiet, the battle was taking place in the veredas.

«We utilized a strategy, and the strategy was to get people from all over the country, from the universities, from other municipalities, from organizations, and they came to Cajamarca about a week before the election to go from door to door. Just like we did in Piedras. . . . We found places they could sleep, people helped out, with food, everything. There were farmers from Antioquia that came to convince farmers in Cajamarca: Come down from the mountain and vote tomorrow. . . . There was also people from Piedras. It was really nice to see the support from Piedras, considering that they looked at us as a people that had been bought [by AGA]» (Interview, January, 2019).

The carrying out of the popular consultation and the results

On the 26th of March, 2017—almost four years after the popular consultation in Piedras—a popular consultation was carried out in Cajamarca. On the day of the vote 6296 cajamarcenos showed up to the urns (38% of the electorate) and «no» won with an astounding 97,92%—only 76 of the voters said yes (Registraduría, 2017). The consultation, the fourth of its kind in Colombia, became an emblematic case. In a press release, AGA expressed its regrets that the community had voted the way they did, but that they respected the decision of the people. AGA stopped their work on La Colosa, and left their offices in Cajamarca. Still, most of those I spoke with in Cajamarca wouldn't let the guard down, and was worrying that AGA will be able to find a way to invalidate the popular consultation continue the project of La Colosa.

In the beginning of June, 2019, various rivers in Cajamarca was declared as subject of rights, protecting them against mining []. Environmental activists are now hoping that the declaration of juridical rights to the rivers will result in AGA finally renouncing their titles. Together with the NGO organization Tierra Digna, local environmental organizations have demanded annulment of AGA's titles to the Administrative Court of Cundinamarca (Aguirre Z., 2019).

3.1.5. Non-juridical processes of resistance

Although the popular consultation was seen as a very important step in the protection of the territories of Cajamarca and Piedras, it was not necessarily seen as the most important tool, just one in a toolkit with many, where the different tools have different roles, and education has been seen as especially important.

Diplomados ambientales

Twice a year, the Environmental Committee of Ibagué, together with the University of Tolima, organizes an open and free course on environmental issues, named after the environmentalist Gonzalo Palomino Ortíz. The course has kept on growing, and for the spring semester of 2019, 1200 persons signed up for the course on its three different levels, which is a new record.²⁷ Whereas in the beginning it was sometimes difficult to find people who would hold classes for free, with the growth of the course and its increased reputation, this problem has disappeared. «Now, people are writing us. . . . We have like three or four international lecturers, and they come by their own means. We don't even pay for their water on the day [of the lecture].»(Interview, January, 2019). While I was conducting my fieldwork, they are considering making a web-version of the course, to reach out to more people. The university also receives requests to hold environmental classes outside of the course, there have, for example, been requests coming from local politicians in different municipalities in the department of Tolima. Additionally, an internal version of the course is held for professors and staff at the university as a way of increasing environmental awareness within the university and across the different disciplines.

_

²⁷ Because of the student strike in Colombia at the time of my fieldwork, the spring semester was delayed and I did therefore not have a chance to check out the course myself.

Marcha Carnaval

In 2011, a group of students at the University of Tolima arranged the first marcha carnaval in Ibagué. The march was used to hand out flyers and tell people about the mining project in Cajamarca, and the possible environmental damages if it was to be carried out. What started out as a protest against La Colosa has gradually become one of the most important, or at least most visible and known parts of the work of the Environmental Committee of Ibagué. It is a carnival celebrating and advocating for the protection of water and nature. The event has kept on growing in Ibagué, and has also spread to other cities and towns in Colombia. Though the carnival is a way to make environmental problems more visible, the march in itself isn't necessary the most important part of the event. The people I spoke to at the Environmental Committee said that the weeks leading up to the carnival are what they consider the most important and most fruitful part of the process, as it is during these weeks that volunteers visit schools in Ibagué and talk about what the carnival is for, and why it is important to think about protecting the environment. Various of the volunteers active in the committee mentioned that their first encounter with the group and the work it does, was through these school visits and the carnival.

One important aspect of the carnival is that it is supposed to be a fun and family friendly event. Many Colombians avoid attending political demonstrations because they have a tendency to turn violent, with clashes between the police and demonstrators. The police frequently uses teargas and also rubber bullets to disperse crowds.²⁸ By arranging a carnival it becomes a day of celebration, and people that normally wouldn't attend a demonstration might partake.

²⁸ While I was doing my fieldwork in Colombia, a national student strike was going on. An afternoon I spent at the offices of the Environmental Committee in Ibagué we could hear repeated explosions as there were demonstrations going on at the nearby university.

So what we do is this. Constructing a new language where the demonstration is a common and normal demonstration, but it is a carnival. And carnival, what is that? Music, happiness, drums, people are dressed up, there are kids, elderly people, everyone are joining. . . . It's a party. And why? Because the revolution, the transformation has to be happiness. We are calling for life, we can't call for it by being boring, being sad. No, this is music, art, culture. The only way to turn away from a culture of death, is through a culture of life. (Environmental activist, Interview, January, 2019)

3.2. Quebradona



Figure 5: Photo from vereda La Soledad, Jericó

I'm standing at the vereda La Soledad. The views are breathtaking. Green, lush mountains meet steep cliffs, before giving way to the Cauca Valley, ²⁹ nestled between the Colombian Western and Central mountain ranges. La Soledad is home to some spectacularly located farms and dwellings, with names like *Casa de las nubes* (House in the clouds) and *Casa sobre la roca* (House on the rock). Down in the valley, the Cauca river—the second most important river in Colombia—flows by lazily. The river is born near the city of Popayán in the department of Cauca. It runs through seven departments on its way through the western parts of Colombia, before merging with the Magdalena river in the department of Bolívar, where it finally flows out into the Caribbean ocean. In some ways, the view from where I am standing is a representation of the Southwest of Antioquia. Part of the culture of this sub-region of Antioquia is anchored in this frontier landscape: between the lush highlands, and the warmer

-

²⁹ Here I'm talking about the geographical valley where the Cauca river flows, and not the Colombian department of the same name (Valle del Cauca).

lowlands. Between coffee plantations and small-scale farmers on the hillsides, and citrus plantations and big *haciendas* further down in the valley.

My guide for the day points out various points of reference in the valley below us: *Puente* Iglesias, the municipalities of Tarso and Fredonia, and where the tunnel for the planned Quebradona project is supposed to come out; what will be the main entrance to the subterranean copper mine according to current plans. Where the mighty mountain range of the Andes reaches Colombia, it splits into three parts: the Western, Central and Eastern Andes. The mountains in the Western and Central Andes has been found to contain so much gold and minerals that a part—stretching from the northern parts of the department of Tolima, into parts of Antioquia has been called Cinturón Occidental de Oro, or the Western Gold Belt. . The Middle Cauca Gold Belt, it's more standardized name is considered the most important of the three gold belts in Colombia. It is home to various big mining projects, like Marmato, the traditional mining districts of Segovia and Remedios, and the Quebradona project. Though the department of Antioquia has a long and strong history of mining—it is the only department in Colombia that issues its own mining titles—the southwestern sub-region of the department is mainly agricultural, and has taken a strong stance against extractive development. Mining goes against the agricultural vocation in the area, and people are scared of the possible environmental consequences, as well as the cultural ones. Because of this, many of the municipalities in the sub-region, among them Jericó and Támesis, have prohibited mining activities through municipal agreements, and some have made intents of popular consultations. Though all processes trying to prohibiting mining in the are has been shut down by the Administrative Court of Antioquia. In this part I will go through some of these processes.

3.2.1. Background information

Quebradona project information

Quebradona is a joint-venture project between the South-African mining company AngloGold Ashanti (AGA) and the Canadian company B2Gold. AGA being the main actor with an ownership rate of almost 95%, as of December 2018 [Note:] (AngloGold Ashanti, 2019). The companies have been doing exploratory work in the municipalities of Jericó and Támesis in the Southwest of Antioquia since 2004. The work has focused on five main targets: Nuevo Chaquiro, Aurora, Tenedor, Isabela and La Sola. Since the beginning of 2011, Nuevo Chaquiro—in the municipality of Jericó—has been the main focus for exploration. It was also the only deposit considered in the prefeasibility study, completed in January 2019 (AngloGold Ashanti, 2019).

The possible mineral deposit at Quebradona in the Southwest of Antioquia were discovered by AGA (Sociedad Kedahda) in 2004 while doing regional prospecting work. While the department of Antioquia has a long history of mining, especially gold mining, the area where the discovery was made has no known history of mineral exploration or exploitation. The exploration work was carried out by AGA from 2004, then by B2Gold from 2006-2009 before AGA took over management again in 2010, and focused its exploration effort on the Nuevo Chaquiro target (AngloGold Ashanti, 2019, p. 2).

The Quebradona project has reserves of 1.26 million tonnes of copper and 2.22 million ounces of gold (AngloGold Ashanti, 2019). The original plan was an open pit mine, but as the ore deposits were considered either too small, or to deep—as was the case of the Nuevo Chaquiro field—for open pit mining, a subterranean mine is now planned (p.8). The ore is considered exceptionally good, and is expected «to produce «clean» copper concentrate with low level of impurities» (AngloGold Ashanti, 2019, p. 4). Different areas for processing and

tailing storage has been considered, but the planned infrastructure is about 6km away from the Quebradona project, and entirely in the municipality of Jericó (p. 18).

The mining concession stretches over 7.593 hectares, but the expected affected area is 471 hectares, or 2.4% of the territory of Jericó (López Suárez, 2019). «Approximately 70% of the area including and surrounding the Quebradona property has been cleared for agricultural purposes, including primarily commercial coffee and fruit production, including subsistence food crops such as plantain and manioc, and for cattle grazing.» (B2Gold, 2007, p. 14)

Jericó



Figure 6: Photo from Jericó

Jericó, the Athens of the South-East, the cultured city of Antioquia, there is no lack of nicknames alluding to the beauty and culture of this little town nestled in the Colombian western Andes. With its colorful streets and houses and many churches it is considered one of the prettiest towns in the department. It is a popular tourist destination and weekend getaway, as well as a pilgrimage destination as it is the birthplace of Laura of Saint Catherine of Siena,

the only Colombian saint. The town houses a cathedral, looming over the small houses, where the bishop of the catholic Diocese of Jericó resides. Jericó is the municipal center of the municipality of Jericó, which stretches almost 200km2 in the Southwest of the department of Antioquia, about a 3 hours drive from Medellín. The municipality has about 12 000 inhabitants, most of which live in the urban centers. Jericó has traditionally been a coffee producer, and still coffee plantations are dotting many of the hills surrounding the town. With falling coffee prices, there has been an increased focus on other export products, like avocado and gulupa.

Támesis



Figure 7: Photo from Támesis

Bordering Jericó is the municipality of Támesis. Like most of the municipalities in the Southwest of Antioquia, the territory of Támesis stretches from the mountains and down into the valley. The municipal center of Támesis looks over the valley of Cauca and on mornings when the fog lays as a carpet over the valley, it is almost like the town is floating in thin air.

Támesis has a shrinking population that has decreased from around 17,600 inhabitants in 1997 to about 14,200 in 2018. It is mainly the rural population that has decreased. The last

couple of years there has been a trend of professionals returning to Támesis after having lived in Medellín, other parts of Colombia, or in the exterior, for years or decades. Tourism is on the increase—though not even near the level of Jericó—but Támesis is still mainly an agricultural municipality with small coffee plantations and large scale plantations with citrus and cocoa. In addition, there are huge swatches of monoculture pine trees. The area is rich in water, many streams and rivers are born here and as it's fresh groundwater.

Támesis and Jericó in the Colombian conflict

Támesis and Jericó have been affected in the Colombian conflict to some extent, with some presence of ELN as well as paramilitary groups. The AUC had a block operating in the Southwest of Antioquia, though despite a lot of violence in the 90s Támesis and Jericó have been quiet compared to some other municipalities in the Southwest of Antioquia (Verdad Abierta, 2009, 2015a, 2015b).

3.2.2. Reception to project and beginning of resistance

Just like with the La Colosa project, most people in Jericó and Támesis did not learn about the plans of a mine until long after the exploration period started. For many, the first meetings with the mining company and exploration process was the helicopters flying around doing prospecting work. In 2011, the Quebradona project was presented to the community. Very soon after, the organization Cinturón Occidental Ambiental, the Western Environmental Belt (COA)³⁰, was started—an umbrella organization encompassing various peasant, environmental and indigenous groups in the Southwest of Antioquia (González Díaz, 2018). As people learned about the Quebradona project, the extent of mining titles all over the

-

³⁰ The name alludes to the nickname given to the mineral-rich Late Miocene Middle Cauca Au-Cu Porphyry Belt: The Western Gold Belt

Southwest of Antioquia become apparent as well, with many municipalities having titles on more than 90% of their territory.

The exploration phase of the Quebradona project has been going on for more than a decade, and the acceptance or rejection of the project, has gone through many different phases in this time period. According to assessments from AGA, there is resistance towards the project among about half the population in Jericó (AngloGold Ashanti, 2019).

When I was there in January and February, 2019, people I spoke with said that there seemed to be an increase of people resisting the mine. There can be many reasons for this. One thing that can have pushed more people against the mine at this specific time, and which was also mentioned by various of my contacts, was that news about problems with the Hidroituango dam project, as well as the break of the Brumadinho tailings dam in Brazil—which killed over 200 persons—were hitting the headlines. The Hidroituango is a big hydroelectric dam project on the Cauca river, a river that many Antioqueños and people from the Southwest hold very dear [Note: The dam is being built near the town of Ituango, further down the Cauca river, about 110km north of Medellín. The news showed how big projects can have unintended and unforeseen consequences, which might have influenced people's opinion on the project. Another reason might be the Hay festival. In January, the literature festival was arranged in the town of Jericó for the first time. Many of the speakers at the festival decided to mention the mining project during their presentation. Flyers were also handed out around town the whole time during the festival. The Hay festival might also have helped people to see the cultural and touristic potential of Jericó. During the festival, every hotel bed in town was occupied, and people rented out rooms in their houses to accommodate all the festivalgoers.

3.2.3. Municipal agreements and intents of popular consultations

First round of municipal agreements

On the 6th of September, 2012—before the municipality of Piedras in Tolima had their popular consultation against mining, before they even started discussing it—the municipal council of Támesis prohibited mining in their territory through a municipal agreement (Alcaldía de Támesis, 2012; Londoño Calle, 2012a). The municipal agreement gave special protection to the territory of Támesis and prohibited activities like mining, using various articles in the Colombian constitution, laws, and ruling C-149/12 by the Constitutional Court to support its decision (Alcaldía de Támesis, 2012). Soon, other municipalities in the Southwest of Antioquia followed suit, with municipal agreements prohibiting mining being put in place in Urrao and Jardín as well (Londoño Calle, 2012a).

The project had been born many months earlier, in May 2012, in a *cabildo abierto* in Jericó (Ceballos, 2012). In the cabildo abierto there were council members and mayors from municipalities all over the Southwest of Antioquia—many of which huge parts of the territory was assigned mining titles. Additionally, the organization Censat Agua Viva had invited environmental lawyers and other experts to join [Ceballos (2012); Interview with lawyer, January 2019]. The municipal agreement in Támesis was historical as it was the first time a local entity successfully prohibited mining in their territory (Ceballos, 2012), though the joy would not be long lasting. Various governmental entities opposed the agreements, stating that they were illegal and that the local governments were exceeding their power. Claudia Cadavidad Márquez, from the Ministry of Mining in Antioquia, said that:

One thing is what one want to do, another thing is what the law permits. We have to make sure that the mayors and the community understand that the activity of mining is governed by law. (Londoño Calle, 2012b)

After the first municipal agreement prohibiting mining was signed in Támesis, the governor of Antioquia requested the Administrative court of Antioquia to revise the agreement and its constitutionality (Londoño Calle, 2012b). All the three agreements³¹ were invalidated by the administrative court. As a result of the municipal agreements in the Southwest of Antioquia, and subsequent intents other places in the country, the Colombian government issued decree 0934 in May 2013,³² explicitly prohibiting municipalities from prohibiting extractive activities in their territory (El Espectador, 2013).

Intents of popular consultations in the Southwest of Antioquia

Not a single popular consultation regarding extractive development has been carried out in the department of Antioquia. There have been a few attempts in sub-region of the Southwest of Antioquia though. I will include some information about some of these intents—even though they come from municipalities that are not directly affected by the Quebradona case—as all the municipalities in the Southwest have been cooperating extensively, and what has happened in one municipality has had an effect on how the social movements act in another municipality. Additionally, the intents in Pueblorrico, the neighboring municipality to Jericó, gives interesting aspects to the use of popular consultations, as well as how citizen participation is seen and understood by different groups and actors in Colombia.

³¹ Támesis, Jardín and Urrao.

 $^{^{32}}$ For more information on this decree, and its relevance to popular consultations in extractive governance, see chapter 2 .

First seeds

Although the municipalities in the Southwest of Antioquia decided to follow the road of municipal agreements, the first seeds of a possible popular consultation had been planted earlier. Already In the cabildo abierto in Jericó in May 2012, the possibility of this option had been discussed. COA, and the different groups operating in Jericó, Támesis and the rest of the Southwest of Antioquia, were working closely with the national environmental organization Censat Agua Viva—which had been central behind the intents of the departmental popular consultation to protect the páramos in Santander and Norte de Santander against mining in 2011.

I remember in the year of 2012, there [cabildo abierto in Jericó] they asked me what I thought of article 33 of law 136 from the year 1994. And I was like, what are you talking about? . . . And they asked me, «what is this?» It turns out that this article says that projects that create significant changes in land use, like tourism, mining, among other things, should be put up for vote in a popular consultation.

(Interview with lawyer, January, 2019).

A kind of regional popular consultation for the Southwest of Antioquia was first proposed, something similar to the intents in Santander and Norte de Santander, though the political climate was not seen as sufficiently mature (Interview with activist, February, 2019).

A couple of years later the idea was revisited. In May 2014, Pueblorrico hosted the fourth regional cabildo abierto on mining problematics in the Southwest of Antioquia, in which various tools of citizen participation was again discussed (González Díaz, 2018). The popular consultations carried out in Piedras and Tauramena in 2013, had shown that it was actually possible to carry out a popular consultation related to mining and extractive industries, and it was seen as a viable option also for the municipalities of the Southwest of Antioquia. After the

meeting, environmental and social groups in various municipalities in the Southwest of Antioquia decided they would try to promote a popular consultation in their territory, among them Pueblorrico, Támesis and Urrao.

Intents of popular consolations

In June, 2014, a committee whose goal was to draft and promote a popular consultation in Pueblorrico was born (González Díaz, 2018). When the social groups in Pueblorrico decided to go forward with a popular consultation in their territory, they wanted to do it differently. In Pueblorrico they did not necessarily disagree with the municipal agreements that had been implemented in other municipalities in the Southwest of Antioquia per se, but the way they were employed. Some people felt it was a copy-paste of agreements drafted by lawyers without including the groups they said they were protecting in the process:

We, when the municipal agreements came about, we took a very critical stance. Because first, the municipal agreement is a construction by lawyers, in a language of lawyers. And the way it was implemented excluded participation, both from social organizations and from the people. (Interview with activist, February, 2019)

After reflecting on the experiences of the municipal agreements in nearby municipalities, they decided that they wanted the popular consultation to truly be an initiative from and to the people. And they wanted it to have positive connotations. All the popular consultations that had been carried ou had a question where the organizers wanted the voters to say no to mining. In Pueblorrico they wanted a question where people said yes to life.

The question that was agreed upon was the following: > Do you agree, yes or no, that in the municipality of Pueblorrico, Antioquia, the rights to life, water and the territory are declared

as sacred, supreme, autonomous and collective rights that are above any project of mining, energy, commercial treaties and extractive industry?³³(La Calle 30, 2014)

Even though they were warned that there was no possibility that the intent would be approved, because sacred rights are not recognized in the constitution, they decided to go forward with the intent. The intents in Támesis and Urrao do not lead anywhere as well. A couple of years later, Pueblorrico made a new attempt, with a question similar to the one that was posed in the popular consultation in Cabrera, but again the Administrative Court of Antioquia shut it down.

In the case of Jericó, the possibility of a popular consultation was never seriously considered. There were discussion about whether or not to go forward with a process of popular consultations, but, just like in Cajamarca, there was a lot of uncertainty about how big part of the population supported or opposed the Quebradona project. Because of this, going forward with a popular consultation was deemed risky. Later, when the intents in Pueblorrico and Urrao were shot down by the administrative court of Antioquia, it was seen like an impossible task to get a proposal approved. Some of the participants I spoke with in Jericó lamented that they hadn't started a process of a popular consultation in the municipality earlier, while they still had the chance.

Second round of municipal agreements

In 2017, various municipalities in the Southwest of Antioquia made new attempts at prohibiting mining in their territories. Even though all the municipal agreements that were put into effect in 2012 and 2013 were invalidated by the administrative court of Antioquia, and the

_

³³ ¿Está de acuerdo, sí o no, que en el municipio de Pueblorrico Antioquia, el Derecho a La Vida, al Agua y al Territorio sean declarados Derechos Sagrados, Supremos, Autónomos y Colectivos que están por encima de cualquier proyecto minero, energético, tratados comerciales e industria extractiva?

attempts of popular consultations were dismissed by the same court, the general climate around local governance and extractivism as a result by various rulings by the constitutional court in 2016 gave the municipalities the possibility to try again.

On the 28th of May, 2017, the municipal council of Támesis voted unanimously in favor of a new municipal agreement prohibiting mining in the territory (Martínez Arango, 2017). Again being the first municipality in the Southwest of Antioquia taking the initiative against mining. After the vote, the president of the local municipal council³⁴, Pedro Juan Martínez, stated that he hoped the municipal agreement would achieve the desired effect, and if not, they would be looking at other constitutional tools, like a popular action (acción popular) or popular consultation (Martínez Arango, 2017).

Again, other municipalities followed suite. In June, with a vote of six against four, the municipal council of Jericó agreed on protecting the whole territory against mining (El Espectador, 2017). By December 2017, ten municipalities in the Southwest of Antioquia had prohibited mining through municipal agreements³⁵ (Semana, 2017). Just like with the municipal agreements in 2012 and 2013, this new round of agreements prohibiting mining were not received well by the governorship of Antioquia, nor the ministry of Mining and Energy. Dora Elena Balvín from the ministry of Mining in Antioquia emphasized the role of mining in the history of Antioquia: «Mining is one of the most traditional activities of the department, because of this we have 1.400 mining titles. The vocation of our land is to a big extent mining», while stressing that only the national government can make decision on the uses of the subsoil

³⁴ Leader of the municipal council, and voted by the council members. A different role than that of mayor of a municipality.

³⁵ The municipalities of Támesis, Jericó, Urrao, Titiribí, Jardín, Concordia, Betulia, Tarso, Salgar and Pueblorrico.

(Semana, 2017). All the agreements are denounced as unconstitutional and sent to the administrative court of Antioquia to be reviewed.

In November 2017, the court announces it first decision. The municipal agreement in Urrao was invalidated on the grounds that the municipal council have exceed their limits (El Tiempo, 2017). In December, the municipal agreement in Jericó is annulled (RCN Radio, 2017). One by one, they all fell, whereas very similar agreements were deemed constitutional by the Administrative Court of Huila (Negrete Montes, 2017).

Ruling by the Council of State and third round of municipal agreements

After the municipal agreement of Urrao was invalidated, the promoters of the initiative interposed a tutela, denouncing the decision by the administrative court of Antioquia as unconstitutional. They argued that the court did not take into consideration the jurisprudence regarding territorial decisions in extractive governance by the Constitutional Court. In October 2018 the Council of State finally made a ruling regarding the case. The ruling was in favor of the municipal agreement in Urrao. The ruling was completely contrary to ruling SU-095 issued by the Constitutional Court only shortly before. In Jericó, a new municipal agreement was quickly drafted and approved, prohibiting mining in their territory for the third time in six years.

Although some people argued that the ruling against popular consultations included all kinds of local decisions prohibiting mining, including municipal agreements (as was the view at the office of AngloGold Ashanti in Jericó as well), others saw it differently.

3.2.4. Abrazo de la montaña

Since the creation of COA in 2011, the organization has organized two journeys around part of the Southwest of Antioquia as a way for people to better get to know the sub-region, and also to spread information on environmental concerns. The journey goes under the name

of *abrazo de la montaña*, or hug of the mountain. Some legs of the journey are carried out by bus, other parts are done by foot. Some people partake in the whole journey, whereas others might join in on parts of it. The first one was organized in 2012 and lasted five days. It started in the town and municipality of Valparaíso and ended in Jardín, going through Caramanta, Támesis, Jericó, Pueblorrico and Andes, as well as the indigenous reservations of Bernardino Panchi and Karmata Rúa. In 2016, a second journey was carried out. This one went in the opposite direction, starting in Jardín and did a longer journey, lasting a whole week; adding Hispañia, Ciudad Bolivar, Peñalisa, Bolombolo and Tarso to the journey. A third version was carried out in 2019. In each municipal center a different activity, or workshop, is carried out on topics ranging from biology and environmental concerns to extractive industries, peasant economies, indigenous culture, democracy and citizen participation. Getting to know the territory in general, and to let people get to know the territory to achieve a higher appreciation of it, seems to be an important goal of COA and also other organizations in the region, and this is one of the ways they are trying to do this.

3.3. Juridical tools only a part of the equation

What I noticed during my fieldwork is that even though popular consultations has been seen as this big, important tool for citizen participation and territorial autonomy in extractive governance, many people within the movements see it as just one of many. That there are other processes that are equally or more important. There were also some participant who felt that the use popular consultations in and on itself did not necessarily equal citizen participation. As we saw with the groups in Pueblorrico. Still, popular consultation was seen as a lot more inclusive than for example regulating mining through municipal agreements.

In Támesis the sentiment of constructing territory and identity has been a very important part of the process of resistance to mining and other environmental and social issues (Hincapié Carmona, 2015; Maya Taborda, 2016). In the words of one my participants in Támesis:

We have one thing very clear. The juridical is only to give time. There are long term, medium term and short term processes. In the short term are the juridical processes. In the medium term is for example educating the children, organizing groups, raising public awareness. Long-term is the agroecology and everything that comes with it. The change of mind, the spirit, spirituality. We have to return to the indigenous, to the direct contact between man and mother nature. We have to work with these three terms at the same time. (Interview, January, 2019)

These sentiments seemed to be stronger among peasants and those more directly working with and living off the land, whereas a more pragmatic and practical view of law and juridical tools was more often found among urban activists and bigger landowners. Various of those I spoke with regarding the Quebradona case also expressed a slight disappointment with the social movements in Cajamarca and Piedras. They felt the activism there had focused too much on the popular consultation. That the popular consultation was a goal in and on itself and that the work ended as soon as the votes had been counted, and the municipal agreement signed. This view did not necessarily match my own impressions from my fieldwork in Tolima, though there might have been a shift in sentiments after the consultation when people started to be uncertain of its longevity. As one of the participants I spoke with in relation to the La Colosa said:

Where should we not fall? To let the discussion fall into only one aspect. It doesn't serve us at all to now have a clear understanding of the juridical, if we don't have a social movement that legitimate it in the streets, and who express themselves. . . . Understanding that there are many tools. That the technical is key, but that the discussion can't only be technical. . . . And while we discuss this [technical details], we are losing the connection with the people, with the civil society, which is the most important. This is what we always have to win, the people, and these are the tools: Juridical, academic, technical, and additionally, philosophy, culture, ancestral or religious.

At the same time, many people expressed a maturing from all actors within the movement. Peasants and activists used to do their activism through demonstrations, road blocks and national strikes had gotten an increased appreciation for the law and constitutional rights and how they can actually be used to protect what they hold dear. This might be explained by seeing how it works, but also through an increased awareness of their rights, and thus feeling more included in the process. Many of my participants (both related to the La Colosa and Quebradona case) had taken part in workshops and courses on the environment as well as environmental and social law—like the open environmental course at the University of Tolima, and courses held by organizations in Bogotá. On the other side, activists felt that the lawyers working with and helping their cause had matured, that they had become less arrogant and feeling like their solutions and law could fix everything, to getting a better understanding and grasp of the social and territorial situation where they were working.

4. Discussing the use of popular consultations in extractive governance in Colombia

When Roa-García (2017) looked at the development of the use of popular consultations in extractive governance Colombia, the use of popular consultations was on the rise. The Constitutional Court had been issuing various rulings that gradually gave more support both to the territorial autonomy of the municipalities, but also to the usage of popular consultations in extractive governance. In her conclusion she writes that:

There is enough evidence to suggest that a process of environmental democratization is in motion in Colombia, supported by the high courts and an increasingly aware and capable citizenship. The multiple cases of citizen participation mechanisms that have been activated in many countries in Latin America as emerging and evolving institutions in the context of mining conflicts suggest a broader trend towards environmental democratization (Roa-García, 2017, p. 69).

Since then it has become evident that equally strong forces were trying to stop this environmental democratization process, and in the end those were the ones that succeeded. It is not very likely that popular consultations will be used in extractive governance in the future, still, there is a lot of understanding that can be garnered from this experience.

4.1. Strengths and limitations

One of the most alluring aspects of the popular consultation was its combination of direct democracy—a way for the community to clearly show their opinion—and legally binding results. In the word of a local politician in Ibagué:

The goal of the popular consultation was clear. It was to first generate a popular mandate that later could not be discredited by any actor, it could only be revisited through another popular consultation. (Interview, February 2019)

Many of those I spoke with during the fieldwork felt that the popular consultation was the most useful tool that they had been able to employ in the political and juridical context in which it was used—with few viable options. At the same time, some of those I spoke with did not necessarily consider it an ideal tool to use in extractive governance and that new tools should be considered. Tools and mechanisms in which municipalities and communities can be included in the process of extractive development in a more inclusive way than what is done today. The need for a new mechanism was also the posture of the Constitutional Court in ruling SU-095, and was repeated, though a tool as strong as the popular consultations was is unlikely that will be considered, if any new mechanism is brought on the table. Despite the legally binding results and strong symbolism of the popular consultation, none of the activists I spoke with considered the popular consultation as the most *important* tool they employed. It was useful, but it was only one part of a bigger equation that would not be possible without all the other work that was happening in the local communities, like educational programs, agroecology projects and inclusive and sustainable development³⁶.

-

 $^{^{36}}$ This was especially the case in the communities where the socioenvironmental conflict has lasted for a longer time, like in Cajamarca, Támesis and Jericó, whereas it was not as evident in Piedras.

Through my research, it also became evident that even though popular consultations did have some kind of juridical legitimacy for a while, one of the biggest limitations during the years 2013-2018, was the uncertainty and changing juridical climate, as well as being seen as illegitimate by the national government in Colombia. If we look at different territorial levels, we can see that although popular consultations has been a valuable tool for many, it has not been equally available for all parts of the country, limiting its role.

4.1.1. Local level

Communities where the local government have been supporting citizen initiatives have been more likely to bring forth and carry out a popular consultation. Despite the change of rules with the new law of participation in 2015, where a popular consultation can be called with a sufficient number of signatures, only one municipality has successfully carried out a popular consultation this way: Cajamarca. All the other successful initiatives have had support from the local communities. Among the suspended popular consultations, there are some, and among those that were in the planning process by the time of the ruling SU-095, there are a lot more, though they never had a chance to be carried out. As the uncertainty have been big and jurisprudence have changed quickly, those who managed to act quickly when there was a favorable climate (or take everyone by surprise, as the case of Piedras), have had a headstart. As the process of organizing a popular consultation through signatures is slower and longer than trough support in the municipal council, the communities without this support have normally lagged behind in the process. Another finding is that municipalities that have a strong presence of a an enterprise wanting to extract minerals have higher level of conflict within the communities, and more often have local government (as well as bigger part of the population)

-

There was a lot of community work happening before the popular consultation in Piedras, but this does not seem to have sustained itself in the same way as it has other places.

supporting the extractive project. For example the communities of Piedras and Támesis being seemingly more unanimously against the planned mining projects than Cajamarca and Jericó. The social movements in community centers with the presence of a mining company seem slightly more apprehensive about starting a juridical process, as they are unsure about the level of support among the population.

4.1.2. Regional level

At regional level, I have noted especially two tendencies. One is that various municipalities within a region usually work together to some degree or another, and often plan and discuss how to deal with extractive plans or mining titles in the territory together. This can for example take the shape of how it has been done in the Southwest of Antioquia, with bigger organized meetings (concejo de concejales) where both local politicians and organizations from many different municipalities meet to discuss various options and courses of action; or for example the shape of how it has been done in Tolima, where the Environmental Committee of Ibagué has been a central playerand Ibagué a meeting point for different movements and organizations in the department of Tolima. When one municipality is successful, others are usually ready to follow suite, often employing the same lawyers and organizations, and using the same formulae in their propositions. Or, use the experience from the nearby communities to define a different route of action. Either way, there is usually a lot of interchanging of information and strategies between the different organizations, both between groups within a municipality and across different municipalities within a region (and also across regions as we will see in the next point). The deviation from this is when a process has the possibility to transcend the traditional ways of how activist and social movements are operating, like the first popular consultation against mining in Piedras, where the momentum of surprise can be advantageous. In those cases, the involved actors tend to keep their cards close to their chest,

but are usually generous with information after the fact. That way you often see a series of intents of for example popular consultations or municipal agreements within the same region or sub-region, as was the case with municipal agreements in the Southwest of Antioquia and in the department of Huila, and popular consolations in Tolima and Casanare.

A second finding is that no matter the support for juridical mechanisms at the level of the municipality, if the regional administrative court oppose a proposed initiative, it is difficult, or almost impossible to carry out. This can help explain how the locally supported intents in the Southwest of Antioquia were not as successful as other places, both when it comes to municipal agreements and popular consultations. Some of these differences can be explained by different municipalities posing different kind of questions for their popular consultations, some which might be easier to deem constitutional than others. Still, as all the municipal agreements in the Southwest of Antioquia were invalidated, whereas the ones in Huila where not, and none of the intents of popular consultations in Antioquia have been approved, one might be able to conclude that the different administrative courts operate by different standards³⁷. Municipalities with stricter administrative courts (like Antioquia) were thus not able to carry out popular consolations despite them being deemed constitutional at national level.

4.1.3. National level

At national level the Colombian government, and various governmental institutions, have claimed that the use of popular consultations in extractive governance is illegitimate and unconstitutional since the beginning, while continuously working against it. This have happened through decrees and tutelas, and when that hasn't gone through the way it was hoped, through threats and sabotage. The Procuraduría for example have threatened many mayors and

³⁷ Though a proper review of all proposition for popular consultations in Colombia, and the arguments to approve or decline them would be needed to properly answer that question.

members of municipal councils of the legal repercussions if they were to decide to go forward with a proposal of a popular consultation. In the popular consultations that have been carried out, voting tables have often been reduced, and in 2017, funding to carry out the planned popular consultations was cut, suspending many popular consultations. The continuously changing and uncertain juridical climate has made it hard to know what to expect, both for the social movements and extractive. Some communities have been unlucky (others lucky) with the moment they have proposed their popular consultations.

4.2. Popular consultations, judicialization of politics and judicial activism

As Cepeda Espinosa said in 2005:

«The difficult question is whether or not the system designed in 1991 is ultimately sustainable. The «losers» are often powerful interests that may combine forces to push forward constitutional amendments to reduce the power of the court.» (Cepeda Espinosa, 2005, p. 100)

This is what we have seen in the case of the use of popular consultations in extractive governance. Which has pushed the institutions within the government as well as affected industries, against rulings by the constitutional court.

When the constitutional court issued rulings supporting the use of popular consultations in extractive governance, it was blamed as being activist (El Espectador, 2019; Martínez, 2018). Likewise, when the constitutional court started issuing rulings going against this usage of popular consultations, civil society groups and activists touted the court as coopted. The biggest battles have taken place in courts, with both sides issuing tutelas, wanting the courts to make a decision in their favor.

As have been noted by scholars like, the judiciary and courts are increasingly being used by social groups and movements in Colombia. As more and more people are becoming aware of the power of the Colombian constitution, while at the same time not getting forward through political means, or because the political climate is too dangerous to operate in. This is something I also noted during my fieldwork. Lawyers and judicial processes were important in the activism, with tutelas being frequently used. For example, when during the Hay festival in Jericó in January, 2019, a group of farmers and activist demonstrated at one of the exploration platforms of AGA, one of the lawyers who have been implicated with the groups helped the activist that the political and judicial road would be better to take. The municipal agreements in Jericó and other municipalities in the Southwest stopping mining projects have been invalidated various times, but each time this happens, the decision is.

A legal language and legal processes are just as important as political processes. Both in the case of Piedras and Cajamarca, lawyers were employed or helping out in the general process and in formulating the questions that were to be asked in the popular consultations to make sure that they were constitutional. Lawyers have also been important in the formulation of the municipal agreements in the Southwest of Antioquia and in the tutelas that have been posed against their invalidation. Tutelas have been used both to try and invalidate and validate the use of popular consultations in extractive governance, and its mainly the decisions taken by the constitutional court that has decided the road of the use of popular consultation in extractive governance and not necessarily the national or local government, though they all have tried to influence the courts.

Further, when one road is closing, the groups—and their supporting lawyers and lawyer organizations—try to find other routes they can employ, that also usually involves the judiciary. For example, to further protect the area in Cajamarca against mining after the

uncertainty of how long the popular consultation will be able to stop the mining project, social groups in Cajamarca has teamed up with the lawyer organization Tierra Digna and declared parts of the river system a person of rights. Some times they are looking for a final solution, and other times various processes are used to drag out the time. After the ruling by the Constitutional Court that stopped the use of popular consultations in extractive governance, various municipalities around the country, most notably in the Southwest of Antioquia, but also other places—like Salento in the department of Quindio—tried to keep up with their municipal agreements prohibiting mining.

The use of the judiciary in the question of territoriality in extractive governance is just one of numerous examples in Colombia where social groups are employing judicial activism.

Though judicial activism has been especially fruitful in Colombia—a country in which people have one of the easiest access to the courts in the world—this judicialization of activism is not necessarily looked positively upon among the local activists themselves. Though various people I spoke with said they were forever grateful for the help they had received from lawyers, many felt alienated from the process because so much of the work took place between lawyers behind closed doors. This was especially the case with the municipal agreements in Jericó and Támesis, and to some extent the popular consultation in Piedras. Though in the case of Piedras the rest of the process of carrying out a popular consultation was very inclusive.

5. Conclusion

Despite the Colombian government's effort to stop the use of participatory tools in extractive governance, for a while, it did seem like an environmental democracy process was on the rise in Colombia in the spirit of the peace accord and the participatory tools of the 1991 constitution(Roa-García, 2017). This research shows that the ten popular consultations carried out in extractive governance between 2013-2018 can be seen as outliers, processes that managed to get through the cracks despite the government's vehement opposition to the use of the tool in this manner. It also shows how important the Colombian courts, and especially the Constitutional Court has been in the decisions regarding the use of popular consultations in extractive governance, a part of a bigger tendency of judicialization of politics in Colombia.

When the Constitutional Court shut down the use of popular consultations in extractive governance in Colombia, it made it harder for communities to participate in decisions in their territory. With conflict levels again rising, and social leaders increasingly being targeted—as well as the connection between mining projects and violence in parts of Colombia, this development is worrying.

6. Bibliography

- AGA. (2008). *Q1 2008 Results Report*. Retrieved from https://www.anglogoldashanti.com/investors/results/
- AGA. (2012). Project Profile. La Colosa, Colombia.
- AGA. (2014). *Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Report* 2014. AngloGold Ashanti. Retrieved from httpc://www.aga-reports.com
- AGA. (2016). *Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Report* 2016. AngloGold Ashanti. Retrieved from httpc://www.aga-reports.com
- AGA. (2017). *Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Report* 2017. AngloGold Ashanti. Retrieved from httpc://www.aga-reports.com
- Aguirre Z., J. J. (2019, June 7). Promotores de la consulta popular demandaron nulidad de tres contratos que aún tiene Anglogold. *El Nuevo Día*. Retrieved from http://www.elnuevodia.com.co/nuevodia/tolima/regional/434235-promotores-de-la-consulta-popular-demandaron-nulidad-de-tres-contratos-que-au
- Alcaldía de Támesis. (2012, August 31). Acuerdo Municipal N 008/2012. Retrieved from https://conflictos-ambientales.net/oca_bd/actions/view/448
- AngloGold Ashanti. (2019). *Release of Maiden Ore Reserve for Quebradona* (News Release). Retrieved from https://www.anglogoldashanti.com/investors/results/#2018
- Arenas, N. (2015, February 13). Hoy: el día D del oro. *La Silla Vacía*. Retrieved from https://lasillavacia.com/historia/hoy-el-dia-d-del-oro-49576
- B2Gold. (2007). Summary Report on the Quebradona Property. Retrieved from https://www.sedar.com/GetFile.do?lang=EN&docClass=24&issuerNo=00026119 &issuerType=03&projectNo=01172791&docId=2065740
- Bebbington, A., & Bury, J. (Eds.). (2013). *Subterranean Struggles: New Dynamics of Mining, Oil, and Gas in Latin America*. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Berg, B. L., & Lune, H. (2012). *Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences* (8 edition, international). Boston: Pearson.
- Bryman, A. (2012). *Social Research Methods* (4 edition). Oxford; New York: OUP Oxford.

- Cappelletti, M. (1971). *Judicial Review in the Contemporary World* (First edition). Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill.
- Cardoso, A. (2015). Behind the life cycle of coal: Socio-environmental liabilities of coal mining in Cesar, Colombia. *Ecological Economics*, 120(Supplement C), 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2015.10.004
- Ceballos, J. (2012, December 29). En la lucha del suroeste antioqueño contra la minería. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/nacional/lucha-del-suroeste-antioqueno-contra-mineria-articulo-394483
- Cepeda Espinosa, M. J. (2005). The Judicialization of Politics in Colombia: The Old and the New. In R. Sieder, L. Schjolden, & A. Angell (Eds.), *The Judicialization of Politics in Latin America*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- CNMH. (2016). La maldita tierra. Guerrilla, paramilitares, mineras y conflicto armado en el departamento de Cesar. Bogotá: Centro Nacional de Memoria Histórica (CNMH). Retrieved from http://www.centrodememoriahistorica.gov.co
- Colombia Solidarity Campaign, London Mining Network, Redher, & The Green Center. (2013). La Colosa: Una Muerte Anunciada. Informe Alternativo acerca del proyecto de Minería de Oro de AngloGold Ashanti en Cajamarca, Tolima, Colombia.
- Cordy, P., Veiga, M. M., Salih, I., Al-Saadi, S., Console, S., Garcia, O., ... Roeser, M. (2011). Mercury contamination from artisanal gold mining in Antioquia, Colombia: The world's highest per capita mercury pollution. *Science of the Total Environment*, 410-411, 154–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.09.006
- Cuevas Guarnizo, A. M. (2014, April 11). '¿Me investigan por cumplir la ley?'. El Espectador. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/actualidad/me-investigan-cumplir-ley-articulo-486537
- Cuevas Guarnizo, A. M. (2015, February 16). Concejo de Cajamarca se niega a citar consulta sobre minería. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/medio-ambiente/concejo-de-cajamarca-se-niega-citar-consulta-sobre-mine-articulo-544478
- DanWatch. (2010). *The Curse of Coal: Our coal consumption causes diseases, pollution, and poverty in Colombia*. Copenhagen: DanWatch.

- Dietz, K. (2018). Direct democracy in mining conflicts in Latin America: Mobilising against the La Colosa project in Colombia. *Canadian Journal of Development Studies / Revue Canadienne d'études Du Développement*, 40(2), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/02255189.2018.1467830
- DNP. (2015). Plan nacional de desarrollo 2014-2018. Todos por un nuevo país. Tomo 1. Bogotá D.C., Colombia: Departamento Nacional de Planeación (DNP). Retrieved from https://www.dnp.gov.co/Plan-Nacional-de-Desarrollo/Paginas/Que-es-el-Plan-Nacional-de-Desarrollo.aspx
- Drost, N. (2014, October 30). The Devil Underground. *The Atavist Magazine*. Retrieved from https://magazine.atavist.com/the-devil-underground
- El Espectador. (2009, March 18). El referendo del agua. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/articulo128806-el-referendo-del-agua
- El Espectador. (2013, May 18). Municipios no podrán decidir sobre minería. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/medio-ambiente/municipios-no-podran-decidir-sobre-mineria-articulo-422660
- El Espectador. (2014, April 23). Consulta popular para salvar al río Túa. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/nacional/consulta-popular-salvar-al-rio-tua-articulo-488519
- El Espectador. (2017, June 7). Jericó le dijo no a la minería de metales. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/nacional/antioquia/jerico-le-dijo-no-lamineria-de-metales-articulo-697389
- El Espectador. (2018, May 20). Freno financiero a las consultas populares. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/medio-ambiente/freno-financiero-las-consultas-populares-articulo-789571
- El Espectador. (2019, September 13). El "activismo jurídico" está afectando la producción minera, según la ACM. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/economia/el-activismo-juridico-esta-afectando-la-produccion-minera-segun-la-acm-articulo-880898
- El Nuevo Día. (2013, February 20). Levantado bloqueo parcial en Doima. *El Nuevo Día*. Retrieved from http://www.elnuevodia.com.co/nuevodia/tolima/regional/172768-levantado-bloqueo-parcial-en-doima?quicktabs_3=2

- El Nuevo Día. (2016, November 23). Fecha de la consulta popular de Cajamarca sería aplazada | El Nuevo Día. *El Nuevo Día*. Retrieved from http://www.elnuevodia.com.co/nuevodia/actualidad/politica/297619-fecha-de-la-consulta-popular-de-cajamarca-seria-aplazada
- El Tiempo. (1991, July 5). Ha renacido la esperanza : Presidente Gaviria. *El Tiempo*. Retrieved from https://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/MAM-115292
- El Tiempo. (1995, May 10). 20 de julio, día de la consulta. *El Tiempo*. Retrieved from https://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/MAM-497307
- El Tiempo. (2007a, December 21). Hallan en Cajamarca (Tolima) reserva de oro que estaría entre las 10 más grandes del mundo. *El Tiempo*. Retrieved from https://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-3871744
- El Tiempo. (2007b, December 27). Oro en Cajamarca, ¿bendición o maldición? *El Tiempo*. Retrieved from https://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-3876621
- El Tiempo. (2016, July 22). El día en que Colombia votó por primera vez en un plebiscito. *El Tiempo*. Retrieved from https://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-16651716
- El Tiempo. (2017, November 21). Tribunal de Antioquia anuló acuerdo para prohibir la minería en Urrao. *El Tiempo*. Retrieved from https://www.eltiempo.com/colombia/medellin/tribunal-de-antioquia-anulo-acuerdo-para-prohibir-mineria-metalica-en-urrao-153600
- El Tiempo. (2019a, September 25). Uribe no apoya proyecto para tumbar fallos de la Corte Constitucional. *El Tiempo*. Retrieved from https://www.eltiempo.com/politica/congreso/uribe-no-apoya-proyecto-para-tumbar-fallos-de-corte-constitucional-416240
- El Tiempo. (2019b, September 25). Uribismo propone tumbar por referendo decisiones de la Corte. *El Tiempo*. Retrieved from https://www.eltiempo.com/politica/congreso/uribismo-propone-tumbar-por-via-referendo-decisiones-de-corte-constitucional-416116
- Feoli Villalobos, M. (2012). *Activismo judicial y justicia constitucional: Los casos de Colombia y Costa Rica* (Ph. D. Thesis). Universidad de Salamanca, Salamanca. Retrieved from

- https://gredos.usal.es/bitstream/handle/10366/121351/DDPG_FeoliVillalobosMarco_tesis.pdf;jsessionid=CAF570156834C39B8E5904AA94CE5DA?sequence=1
- Ferejohn, J. (2002). Judicializing Politics, Politicizing Law. *Law and Contemporary Problems*, 65(3), 41–68. https://doi.org/10.2307/1192402
- Fierro Morales, J. (2013). Una aproximación sintética sobre impactos ambientales de la minería no legal. In L. J. Garay Salamanca (Ed.), *Minería en Colombia: Institucionalidad y territorio, paradojas y conflictos*. Contraloría General de la República. Retrieved from http://www.contraloriagen.gov.co/documents/10136/182119332/MineriaEnColombia-Vol2.pdf/6cc33e0c-29e9-4a65-8561-1215fa8d07a0
- Garay Salamanca, L. J. (Ed.). (2013a). *Minería en Colombia: Control público, memoria y justicia socio-ecológica, movimientos sociales y posconflicto*. Contraloría General de la República. Retrieved from http://www.contraloriagen.gov.co/documents/10136/182119332/MineriaEnColombia-Vol2.pdf/6cc33e0c-29e9-4a65-8561-1215fa8d07a0
- Garay Salamanca, L. J. (Ed.). (2013b). *Minería en Colombia: Daños ecológicos y socio-económicos y consideraciones sobre un modelo minero alternativo*. Contraloría General de la República. Retrieved from http://www.contraloriagen.gov.co/documents/10136/182119332/MineriaEnColombia-Vol2.pdf/6cc33e0c-29e9-4a65-8561-1215fa8d07a0
- Garay Salamanca, L. J. (Ed.). (2013c). *Minería en Colombia: Fundamentos para superar el modelo extractivista*. Contraloría General de la República. Retrieved from http://www.contraloriagen.gov.co/documents/10136/182119332/Libro_mineria_s ep3_2013.pdf/65bf77a0-8b0b-430a-9726-dad0e72639c6
- Garay Salamanca, L. J. (Ed.). (2013d). *Minería en Colombia: Institucionalidad y territorio, paradojas y conflictos*. Contraloría General de la República. Retrieved from http://www.contraloriagen.gov.co/documents/10136/182119332/MineriaEnColombia-Vol2.pdf/6cc33e0c-29e9-4a65-8561-1215fa8d07a0
- Gargarella, R., Roux, T., & Domingo, P. (Eds.). (2016). *Courts and Social Transformation in New Democracies: An Institutional Voice for the Poor?* (1 edition). Routledge.
- GDIAM. (2018). *Propuestas para una visión compartida sobre la minería en Colombia. Edición 2018*. Bogotá, Colombia: Grupo de Diálogo Sobre Minería en Colombia

- (GDIAM). Retrieved from http://gdiam.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/GDIAM-Tres-Nuevas-Propuestas-para-una-visión-compartida-sobre-la-Miner%C3%ADa-en-Colombia.pdf
- Ginsburg, T., & Versteeg, M. (2013). Why Do Countries Adopt Constitutional Review? *The Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization*, 30(3), 587–622. https://doi.org/10.1093/jleo/ewt008
- Gobernación de Tolima. (2015). *Estadísticas 2011-2014. Piedras*. Retrieved from https://www.tolima.gov.co/loader.php?lServicio=Tools2&lTipo=descargas&lFun cion=visorpdf&id=1895&pdf=1
- González Díaz, Y. (2018). *Ambúa Kurisiadayú. Poder Popular, Contraespacios y Justicia Espacial. Pueblorrico, Antioquia* (Master's thesis in Sociospacial Studies). University of Antiquia, Medellín.
- Gómez, C. J. L., Sánchez-Ayala, L., & Vargas, G. A. (2015). Armed conflict, land grabs and primitive accumulation in Colombia: Micro processes, macro trends and the puzzles in between. *The Journal of Peasant Studies*, 42(2), 255–274. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2014.990893
- Grajales, J. (2011). The rifle and the title: Paramilitary violence, land grab and land control in Colombia. *The Journal of Peasant Studies*, *38*(4), 771–792. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2011.607701
- Grajales, J. (2015). Land grabbing, legal contention and institutional change in Colombia. *The Journal of Peasant Studies*, 42(3-4), 541–560. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2014.992883
- Güiza, L., & Aristizabal, J. D. (2013). Mercury and gold mining in Colombia: a failed state. *Universitas Scientiarum*, 18(1), 33–49. Retrieved from http://revistas.javeriana.edu.co/index.php/scientarium/article/view/4032
- Hincapié Carmona, K. (2015). *Actores y formas de participación en el ordenamiento de territorios con presencia minera: El Bagre, Buriticá y Támesis* (master's thesis). Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Medellín. Retrieved from http://bdigital.unal.edu.co/51069/
- IKV Pax Christi. (2009). *Report on the AGA mining project in Cajamarca*. Utrecht. Retrieved from https://paxencolombia.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/cajamarca-rapport-definitief-english.pdf

- InterOil. (2015). *Prospectus. Listing of 395,000,000 Shares on Oslo Børs*. Retrieved from https://www.interoil.no/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Interoil-Prospect-20151.pdf
- Jaramillo Arango, J. J. (2017, March 27). ¿Quiénes fueron los que lograron sacar a Anglo Gold Ashanti? *Las2orillas*. Retrieved from https://www.las2orillas.co/quienes-se-echaron-al-hombro-la-pelea-la-gigante-anglo-gold-ashanti/
- La Calle 30. (2014, December 8). Mandatos Populares Acogidos por el Concejo Municipal de Pueblorrico. Retrieved January 11, 2020, from http://lacalle30.blogspot.com/2014/12/mandatos-populares-acogidos-por-el.html
- La Silla Vacia. (2017, March 21). En Cajamarca quieren más mesas. *La Silla Vacía*. Retrieved from https://lasillavacia.com/historia/en-cajamarca-quieren-mas-mesas-60244
- Landau, D. (2010). Political Institutions and Judicial Role in Comparative

 Constitutional Law. *Harvard International Law Journal*, 51, 319–377. Retrieved from

 https://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/hilj51&id=323&div=&collection=
- Lombana, N. (2010, August 5). Explotación petrolera en Piedras, Tolima, genera más pobreza que riqueza en la comunidad. Retrieved June 9, 2019, from https://nelsonlombana.wordpress.com/2010/08/05/explotacion-petrolera-enpiedras-tolima-genera-mas-pobreza-que-riqueza-en-la-comunidad/
- Londoño Calle, V. (2012a, November 28). Rechazo a la minería. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/nacional/rechazo-mineria-articulo-389483
- Londoño Calle, V. (2012b, September 2). 'Nuestro oro es verde'. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/temadeldia/nuestro-oro-verde-articulo-372003
- López Suárez, A. (2019, June 3). "Jericó quiere desarrollar su proyecto de cobre". *Portafolio*. Retrieved from http://www.portafolio.co/negocios/jerico-quiere-desarrollar-su-proyecto-de-cobre-530224

- Martínez, A. (2018, February 1). ¿Activismo judicial? Retrieved December 11, 2019, from https://www.asuntoslegales.com.co/analisis/adriana-martinez-507851/activismo-judicial-2594732
- Martínez Arango, R. (2017, May 28). Támesis, primer municipio de Antioquia que dijo no a la minería. *El Colombiano*. Retrieved from https://www.elcolombiano.com/antioquia/concejo-de-tamesis-antioquia-le-dijo-no-a-la-mineria-AF6623130
- Maya Taborda, M. (2016). Los usos políticos de la identidad en Támesis y Buriticá, Antioquia, Colombia: respuestas locales a un proyecto extractivo estatal, 2010-2015 (master's thesis). Universidad de Antioquia, Medellín. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10495/5493
- McNeish, J.-A. (2017). A vote to derail extraction: Popular consultation and resource sovereignty in Tolima, Colombia. *Third World Quarterly*, *38*(5), 1128–1145. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2017.1283980
- MOE. (2012). *Mecanismos de Participación Ciudadana en Colombia:* 20 años de ilusiones. Bogotá, Colombia: Misión de Observación Electoral (MOE). Retrieved from https://moe.org.co/publicacion/mecanismos-participacion-ciudadana-encolombia/
- Molano Jimeno, A. (2013, December 15). Tauramena le dice no a la exploración petrolera. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/medio-ambiente/tauramena-le-dice-no-exploracion-petrolera-articulo-464323
- Montaño Vásquez, E. (2018, March 26). Así está Cajamarca luego de su "no" rotundo a la minería de oro. *Semana Sostenible*. Retrieved from https://sostenibilidad.semana.com/impacto/articulo/cajamarca-tolima-le-dice-no-a-la-mineria-y-no-se-arrepiente/39755
- Negrete Montes, R. (2017). *Competencia municipal para la prohibición de actividades mineras y de hidrocarburos* (Ideas verdes. Análisis polítco No. 2). Bogotá: Heinrich Böll Stiftung. Retrieved from https://co.boell.org/sites/default/files/20180205_ideasverdes_no2_completo_web. pdf
- Negrete Montes, R. E. (2013). Derechos, minería y conflictos. Aspectos normativos. In L. J. Garay Salamanca (Ed.), *Minería en Colombia: Fundamentos para superar el*

- *modelo extractivista*. Contraloría General de la República. Retrieved from http://www.contraloriagen.gov.co/documents/10136/182119332/Libro_mineria_s ep3_2013.pdf/65bf77a0-8b0b-430a-9726-dad0e72639c6
- Olivero Verbel, J., & Johnson Restrepo, B. (2002). *El lado gris de la minería del oro: La contaminación con mercurio en el norte de Colombia*. Universidad de Cartagena.
- Oxfam. (2017). Radiografía de la desigualdad. Lo que nos dice el último censo agropecuario sobre la distribución de la tierra en Colombia.
- Ó Loingsigh, G. (2017). *Machuca*. Bogotá, Colombia: Corporación Periferia Comunicación Alternativa / Fundación Comité de Solidaridad con los Presos Políticos.
- Palomino Ortiz, G. (25th of February 2014). Y cuando fue necesario, nació un grupo ecológico. *El Nuevo Día*. Retrieved from http://www.elnuevodia.com.co/nuevodia/especiales/ecologica/211196-y-cuando-fue-necesario-nacio-un-grupo-ecologico
- Pardo Becerra, L. Á. (2013). Propuestas para recuperar la gobernanza del sector minero colombiano. In L. J. Garay Salamanca (Ed.), *Minería en Colombia: Fundamentos para superar el modelo extractivista*. Contraloría General de la República.
- Patiño, M. P. (2009). Acción educativa del movimiento ambiental en la universidad pública del centro-occidente colombiano. *Revista Historia de la Educación Colombiana*, 12(12), 175–203. Retrieved from http://revistas.udenar.edu.co/index.php/rhec/article/view/1015
- PAX. (2014). *The Dark Side of Coal*. Utrecht (The Netherlands). Retrieved from https://paxencolombia.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/pax-dark-side-of-coal-final-version-web.pdf
- PAX. (2016a). *Civil society under threat. Paramilitary violence Cesar mining region* 2012-2016. Utrecht, The Netherlands.
- PAX. (2016b). Democracia vale más que el oro. El proyecto minero La Colosa y el derecho ciudadano a la participación. Utrecht (The Netherlands). Retrieved from https://paxencolombia.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/PAX_REPORT_Democracia.pdf

- Portafolio. (2 augost 2017). Consultas populares deben financiarse con recursos de los entes territoriales. *Portafolio*. Retrieved from http://www.portafolio.co/economia/consultas-populares-no-deben-financiarse-con-recursos-de-la-nacion-508364
- Quinn, T. (1989, August 16). Colombia records world's highest murder rate. *UPI*. Retrieved from https://www.upi.com/Archives/1989/08/16/Colombia-records-worlds-highest-murder-rate/3970619243200/
- Quintero Cerón, R. (2019, February 10). 1989: El año en el que los narcos nos desangraron. *El Tiempo*. Retrieved from https://www.eltiempo.com/justicia/conflicto-y-narcotrafico/ataques-y-atentados-del-narcotrafico-en-colombia-en-1989-324084
- Quiñones Torres, A. J. (2015). Geopolítica de los conflictos socioambientales: resistencia a la expansión minera. *Memoria y Sociedad*, 19(39), 73–92. Retrieved from https://dialnet.unirioja.es/servlet/articulo?codigo=5428158
- RCN Radio. (2017, December 18). Tumban norma que prohibía la minería en Jericó, Antioquia. *RCN Radio*. Retrieved from https://www.rcnradio.com/colombia/antioquia/tumban-norma-prohibia-lamineria-jerico
- Registraduría. (2013a). En consulta popular celebrada ayer domingo 15 de diciembre, los habitantes de Tauramena, Casanare, dijeron "No" a la explotación de hidrocarburos (Comunicado de Prensa No. 1029). Registraduría Nacional del Estado Civil, Colombia. Retrieved from https://www.registraduria.gov.co/En-consulta-popular-celebrada-hoy,12424.html
- Registraduría. (2013b). En consulta popular celebrada el domingo 28 de julio, los habitantes de Piedras, Tolima dijeron "No" a la exploración minera en su municipio (Comunicado de Prensa No. 528, de 2013). Registraduría Nacional del Estado Civil, Colombia. Retrieved from https://registraduria.gov.co/En-consulta-popular-celebrada-hoy,10769.html
- Registraduría. (2014, April 25). Consejo de Estado ordena a Registraduría suspender consulta popular sobre exploración de hidrocarburos en Monterrey, Casanare. Registraduría Nacional del Estado Civil. Retrieved from https://www.registraduria.gov.co

- Registraduría. (2017). *Habitantes de Cajamarca* (*Tolima*) *dijeron No a la ejecución de proyectos y actividades mineras en este municipio* (No. 0036 de 2017). Registraduría Nacional del Estado Civil, Colombia. Retrieved from https://www.registraduria.gov.co/Habitantes-de-Cajamarca-Tolima,23943.html
- Registraduría. (2018a). El 28 de agosto los colombianos podrán participar en la consulta popular anticorrupción. Retrieved June 10, 2019, from https://www.registraduria.gov.co/-Consulta-Anticorrupcion-2018-.html
- Registraduría. (2018b). Resultados de preconteo para la consulta popular anticorrupción del 26 de agosto de 2018. Retrieved June 15, 2019, from https://elecciones1.registraduria.gov.co/pre_cpa_20180826/consultas/html/inicio. html
- Registraduría. (n.d.-a). Consultas populares: Mecanismo de participación creado por la Ley 134 de 1994. Retrieved May 2, 2019, from https://www.registraduria.gov.co/Consultas-populares-mecanismo-de.html
- Registraduría. (n.d.-b). Histórico consultas populares. Retrieved May 1, 2019, from https://www.registraduria.gov.co/-Historico-Consultas-populares-.html
- Roa-García, M. C. (2017). Environmental democratization and water justice in extractive frontiers of Colombia. *Geoforum*, *85*, 58–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2017.07.014
- Rojas, T., & Semana Sostenible. (2018, November 30). Tauramena: un conflicto ambiental que apenas comienza en el oriente de Colombia. *Mongabay*. Retrieved from https://es.mongabay.com/2018/11/conflicto-ambiental-petroleo-tauramena-colombia/
- Rosenn, K. S. (1974). Judicial Review in Latin America. *Ohio State Law Journal*, 35, 785–819.
- Rostow, E. V. (1952). The Democratic Character of Judicial Review. *Harvard Law Review*, 66(2), 193–224. https://doi.org/10.2307/1336837
- Rudas Lleras, G., & Espitia Zamora, J. E. (2013). La Paradoja de la minería y el desarrollo. Análisis departamental y municipal para el caso de Colombia. In L. J. Garay Salamanca (Ed.), *Minería en Colombia: Institucionalidad y territorio, paradojas y conflictos* (pp. 27–83). Contraloría General de la República. Retrieved from http://www.contraloriagen.gov.co/documents/10136/182119332/MineriaEnColombia-Vol2.pdf/6cc33e0c-29e9-4a65-8561-1215fa8d07a0

- Sandoval, M. S. (2012). La resistencia a la minería en el Páramo El Almorzadero. In C. Toro Pérez, J. Fierro Morales, S. Coronado Delgado, & T. Roa Avendaño (Eds.), *Minería, territorio y conflicto en Colombia*. Bogotá D.C., Colombia: Universidad Nacional de Colombia.
- Sañudo, M. F., Quiñones, A. J., Copete, J. D., Díaz, J. R., Vargas, N., & Cáceres, A. (2016). Extractivismo, conflictos y defensa del territorio: El caso del corregimiento de La Toma (Cauca, Colombia). *Desafios*, 28(2), 367–409. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.Org/10.12804/desafios28.2.2016.10
- Semana. (2017, December 20). ¿Por qué está tambaleando la minería en Antioquia? Semana. Retrieved from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/la-mineria-tiembla-en-antioquia/551211
- Semana. (2018, October 21). Fusagasugá prohibió el 'fracking': ¿y ahora qué? *Semana*. Retrieved from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/fusagasuga-primermunicipio-en-america-latina-en-prohibir-el-fracking/587769
- Semana Sostenible. (2017a, May 11). Registraduría redujo mesas para la consulta petrolera en Cumaral. *Semana Sostenible*. Retrieved from https://sostenibilidad.semana.com/medio-ambiente/articulo/consulta-petrolera-en-cumaral-registraduria-redujo-mesas-de-votacion/37779
- Semana Sostenible. (2017b, October 18). Por falta de plata piden suspender la consulta popular en Granada. *Semana Sostenible*. Retrieved from https://sostenibilidad.semana.com/medio-ambiente/articulo/consulta-popular-en-granada-se-suspende-por-falta-de-plata/38797
- Semana Sostenible. (2018, October 23). Sin consultas, ¿qué le espera a los municipios? *Semana Sostenible*. Retrieved from https://sostenibilidad.semana.com/medio-ambiente/articulo/sin-consultas-que-le-espera-a-los-municipios/41905
- Sieder, R., Schjolden, L., & Angell, A. (Eds.). (2005). *The Judicialization of Politics in Latin America*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Sierra Praveli, Y. (2019, January 17). Minería ilegal: estudio revela la peor devastación en la historia de la Amazonía. *Mongabay*. Retrieved from https://es.mongabay.com/2019/01/mapa-mineria-ilegal-seis-paises-amazonia/

- Tate, C. (1995). Why the Expansion of Judicial Power? In C. Tate & T. Vallinder (Eds.), *The Global Expansion of Judicial Power* (pp. 27–38). New York: NYU Press. Retrieved from https://muse.jhu.edu/book/7639
- Tate, C. N. (1998). Judicial Review. Retrieved from https://www.britannica.com/topic/judicial-review
- Tate, C., & Vallinder, T. (Eds.). (1995). *The Global Expansion of Judicial Power*. New York: NYU Press. Retrieved from https://muse.jhu.edu/book/7639
- Tate, W. (2007). Counting the Dead: The Culture and Politics of Human Rights Activism in Colombia. University of California Press.
- Terrepaz. (2018, September 24). El regreso de las consultas populares. *El Espectador*. Retrieved from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/judicial/el-regreso-de-las-consultas-populares-articulo-814187
- Tierra Digna, & Melo, D. (2016). *La minería en Chocó, en clave de derechos. Investigación y propuestas para convertir la crisis socio-ambiental en paz y justicia territorial.*Bogotá, Colombia: Centro de Estudios para la Justicia Social, Tierra Digna.

 Retrieved from

 http://tierradigna.org/pdfs/LA%20MINERIA%20EN%20CHOCO_web.pdf
- Uprimny, R. (2003). The constitutional court and control of presidential extraordinary powers in Colombia. *Democratization*, 10(4), 46–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/13510340312331294027
- Vale, H. F. do. (2013). The judicialization of territorial politics in Brazil, Colombia and Spain. *Brazilian Political Science Review*, 7(2), 88–113. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1981-38212013000200004
- Vallinder, T. (1994). The Judicialization of Politics—A World-wide Phenomenon: Introduction. *International Political Science Review*, 15(2), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1177/019251219401500201
- van den Hoonaard, W. C. (2003). Is Anonymity an Artifact in Ethnographic Research? *Journal of Academic Ethics*, 1(2), 141–151. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JAET.0000006919.58804.4c
- Vargas Valencia, F. (2013). Propiedad sobre el subsuelo y los recursos mineros: Aportes comparativos para analizar el caso colombiano. In L. J. Garay Salamanca (Ed.), *Minería en Colombia: Daños ecológicos y socio-económicos y*

- consideraciones sobre un modelo minero alternativo (pp. 271–308). Contraloría General de la República. Retrieved from http://www.contraloriagen.gov.co/documents/10136/182119332/MineriaEnColo mbia-Vol2.pdf/6cc33e0c-29e9-4a65-8561-1215fa8d07a0
- Verdad Abierta. (2009, April 3). Crímenes del bloque Suroeste, sin nadie quién los confiese. Retrieved November 18, 2019, from https://verdadabierta.com/crimenes-del-bloque-suroeste-sin-nadie-quien-los-confiese/
- Verdad Abierta. (2015a, August 3). El misterioso Frente Suroeste de las Auc. Retrieved November 18, 2019, from https://verdadabierta.com/el-misterioso-frente-suroeste-de-las-auc/
- Verdad Abierta. (2015b, September 15). Situación de DDHH en Bajo Cauca, Urabá y Suroeste de Antioquia tiende a complicarse. Retrieved November 18, 2019, from https://verdadabierta.com/situacion-de-ddhh-en-bajo-cauca-uraba-y-suroeste-de-antioquia-tiende-a-complicarse/
- Verdad Abierta. (2015c, September 4). Aguachica: el modelo de paz que sólo duró un año. *Verdad Abierta*. Retrieved from https://verdadabierta.com/aguachica-el-modelo-de-paz-que-solo-duro-un-ano/
- Villamil, M. Á. G., & Bautista, W. G. R. (2015). La Consulta Popular como mecanismo de participación ciudadana para evitar actividades mineras. *Justicia juris*, 11(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.15665/rj.v11i1.617
- Walter, M., & Urkidi, L. (2017). Community mining consultations in Latin America (2002–2012): The contested emergence of a hybrid institution for participation. *Geoforum*, 84, 265–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2015.09.007
- Willatt, T., Timson, S., Pichard, S., Furuvald, M., & Ávila Sánchez, L. (2011). Mining in Colombia. Exploring the last Andean frontier. *E&MJ Engineering and Mining Journal / Global Business Reports*, (December 2011), 79–118. Retrieved from https://www.gbreports.com/publications
- Wilson, B. M. (2009). Institutional Reform and Rights Revolutions in Latin America: The Cases of Costa Rica and Colombia. *Journal of Politics in Latin America*, 1(2), 59–85. https://doi.org/10.1177/1866802X0900100203
- Wiss, J., & Gurney, K. (2018, January 16). Dirty gold is the new cocaine in Colombia and it's just as bloody. *Miami Herald*. Retrieved from

https://www.miamiherald.com/news/nation-world/world/americas/colombia/article194188034.html

Yin, R. K. (2012). *Applications of Case Study Research* (Third edition). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.

Popular consultations in extractive governance

1991

1991 Constitution

The new constitution opens up new modes of citizen participation, among them, the electorate tool of popular consultations. The constitution also states that the resources of the subsoil belongs to the State.

Law 134/94

The new participatory tools are regulated in law 134 of 1994. According to this law, only the mayor in a municipality can call for a popular consultation.

Law 136/94

Article 33 in the municipality law states that when a development project might create a significant change in land use, or traditional activities in the municipality, a popular consultation should be carried out. This article will later be used to support popular consultations in extractive governance.

2001

Law 685 /2001

A new mining Code is passed. The new law makes the process of adquiring mining titles and starting exploratory processes easier. It also reiterates the state's rights to the subsoil.

2011

Consultation intent

The departments of Santander and Norte de Santander tries to organize popular consultations on departmental level to protect the páramo against mining. The consultation for Santander is approved, but is never carried out because the question is not added to the ballots for the local election.

2013

Decree 0934/13

In May, the Ministry of Mining and Energy issues decree 0934. The decree regulates article 37 of the Mining Code which states that the subsoil belongs to the State. The decree prohibits municipalities from prohibiting extractive development in their territory. It is later deemed unconstiutional

Popular Consultations

In July, first popular consultation against mining is carried out in the municipality of Piedras (Tolima). A few months later another consultation is held in Tauramena (Casanare) against hydrocarbons.

2014

Suspended consultation

The popular consultation planned in the municipality of Monterrey (Casanare) in April, is suspended because of a tutela interposed by Ecopetrol. Decree 0934/I3 is used to justify the suspension.

Ruling C-123/14

The Constitutional Court deems article 37 of the mining code consituttional, as long as local authorities are taken into account to some extent, when making decisions in matters of extractive exploration and exploitation

Decree 0934 unconsitutional

In September, the Council of State rules decree 0934/I3 unconstitutional.

Decree 2691/14

In December, the Ministry of Mining and Energy issues decree 2691. The decree again prohibits local authorities from regulating extractive industries in their territories. It is later temporary suspended.

Law 1757/15

A new law on citizen participation is passed. The law opens up for a group of individual, or an organization to initiate popular consultations through a petition. Ten per cent of the electorate needs to sign for the initiative to proceed. Through the new law, initiatives for popular consultations don't need the support of the mayor or local council..

2016

Suspension of decree 2691/14

The Council of State temporary suspends decree 2691/14 because it would limit the constitutional right of local authorities to make land use decisions in their territory.

Consultation intents

Throughout the year, various municipalities try to organize popular consultations to regulate extractive development in their territory. All are deemed unconstitutional by their respective departmental Administrative Courts.

Ruling C-035/16

In February, the Constitutional Court issues ruling C-035. The ruling invalidates part of the National Development Plan for 2014-2018, and reaffirms local authorities autonomy when it comes to making decisions on land use in their territory. It also prohibits mining activities in páramos.

2016

Ruling C-273/16

The Constitutional Court issues ruling C273, that removes article 37 of the Mining Code. Arguing that other contents of the constitution, like citizen participation, territorial autonomy and the duty to protect the natural and cultural heritage of the nation, are more important to uphold, than the State's right to the subsoil.

2017

Ruling T-445/16

In August, the Constitutional Court issues ruling T-445. The ruling states that local governments do have a right to make land use decisions in their territory, even when the decision might lead to a prohibition of extraction of minerals from the subsoil

Popular Consultations

Between February and October, seven popular consultations are carried out:
Cabrera (Cundinamarca)
Cajamarca (Tolima)
Cumaral (Meta)
Arbeláez (Cundinamarca)
Pijao (Quindió),
Jesús María (Santander) and
Sucre (Santander).

2018

Suspended consultations

In October, the planned consultation in Granada (Meta), is suspended because the Registraduría is not able to allocate sufficient funds to carry it out. It is the first in a series of suspensions because of lack of funding.

Ruling SU-095/2018

In October, the Constitutional Court issues ruling SU-095, which states that popular consultations cannot be used to prohibit extractive projects. It also states that some mechanism of territorial inclusion or participation in extractive development has to be created.

Popular consultation

Despite ruling SU-095 by the Constitutional Court, Fusagasugá (Cundinamarca) decides to go forward with their popular consultation against fracking. The consultation is carried out on the 2lst of October.

2019

Ruling C-053/19

In February, the Constitutional Court issues a ruling that removes article 33 of law 136/94. The article has frequently been employed when defending the use of popular consultations in extractive governance-

